COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

-Between-

THE ONTARIO SECONDARY SCHOOL TEACHERS' FEDERATION

(Hereinafter called the "OSSTF" or "Union")

-Representing-

The Educational Support Staff of the Ontario Secondary School Teachers' Federation

Employed by the Board (Hereinafter called the Bargaining Unit)

-And-

THE SUPERIOR-GREENSTONE DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

(Hereinafter called the "Employer" or "Board"

FOR THE PERIOD
September 1^{st,} 2019 to August 31, 2022

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART A - CENTRAL TERMS

C1.0 ST	RUCTURE AND CONTENT OF COLLECTIVE	
AGREEN	MENT (ALL JOB CLASSIFICATIONS)	12
(C1.1 Separate Central and Local Terms	12
(C1.2 Implementation	12
(C1.3 Parties	12
(C1.4 Single Collective Agreement	12
C2.0 LE	NGTH OF TERM/NOTICE TO BARGAIN/RENEWAL	
	(ALL JOB CLASSIFICATIONS)	12
(C2.1 Term of Agreement	12
(C2.2 Amendment of Terms	12
(C2.3 Notice to Bargain	12
C3.0 DE	EFINITIONS	13
C4.0 CE	NTRAL LABOUR RELATIONS COMMITTEE	13
C5.0 CE	NTRAL GRIEVANCE PROCESS	14
(C5.1 Definitions	14
(C5.2 Central Dispute Resolution Committee	14
(C5.3 Language of Process	15
(C5.4 Grievance Shall Include	16
(C5.5 Referral to the Committee	16
(C5.6 Voluntary Mediation	16
(C5.7 Selection of the Arbitrator	16
C6.0 EX	TENDED MANDITORY ENROLLMENT IN OMERS (for employees	
r	not currently enrolled	17
C7.0 SP	ECIALIZED JOB CLASSES	17
C8.0 W	ORK YEAR	17
C9.0 ST	AFFING COMMUNICATION	17
C10.0 B	BENEFITS	18
(C10.1 ELHT Benefits	18

C10.2 Eligibility and Coverage	18
C10.3 Funding	19
C10.4 Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) and Employer Contributions	20
C10.5 Benefits Committee	20
C10.6 Privacy	21
C10.7 Benefits not provided by the ELHT	21
C10.8 Payment in Lieu of Benefits	21
C11.0 STATUTORY LEAVES OF ABSENCE/SEB	21
C11.1 Family Medical Leave or Critically III Child Care Leave	21
Supplemental Employment Benefits (SEB)	22
C12.0 SICK LEAVE	22
C12.1 Sick Leave/ Short Term Leave and Disability Plan	22
a) Sick Leave Benefit Plan	22 22 23 24 24 24 25
C13.0 MINISTRY INITIATIVES	26
C14.0 PROVINCIAL FEDERATION RELEASE DAYS	26
APPENDIX A – RETIREMENT GRATUITIES	27
A. Sick Leave Credit-Based Retirement Gratuities (where applicable) B. Other Retirement Gratuities	27 27
APPENDIX B – ABILITES FORM	28
LETTER OF AGREEMENT #1 Re: Sick Leave	30

LETTER OF AGREEMENT #2 Re: Job Security						
LETTER OF AGREEMENT #3 Re: Provincial Working Group –						
	Health and Safety	33				
LETTE	R OF AGREEMENT #4 Re: Scheduled Unpaid Leave Plan	34				
LETTER OF AGREEMENT #5 Re: Status Quo Central Terms						
LETTE	R OF AGREEMENT #6 Re: Additional Professional Activity (PA) Day	37				
LETTE	R OF AGREEMENT #7 Re: Children's Mental Health, Special Needs					
	and Other Initiatives	38				
LETTE	R OF AGREEMENT #8 Re: Online Reporting Tool for Violent Incidents	39				
LETTE	R OF AGREEMENT #9 Re: Half Day of Violence Prevention Training	40				
LETTE	R OF AGREEMENT #10 Re: Employee Life and Health Trust (ELHT) Committee	41				
LETTE	R OF AGREEMENT #2 Re: Benefits (FOR HISTORICAL REFERENCE ONLY)	42				
HISTO	RICAL APPENDIX OF CENTRAL TERMS (FOR HISTORICAL REFERENCE ONLY)	42				
Part B	3 - LOCAL TERMS					
L1.0	PURPOSE	58				
L2.0	DEFINITIONS	58				
L3.0	RECOGNITION	60				
L4.0	MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS	63				
L5.0	NO STRIKE OUTS OR LOCK OUTS	63				
L6.0	UNION MEMBERSHIP AND DUES DEDUCTION	63				
L7.0	PAYMENT OF WAGES	64				
L8.0	PERSONNEL FILES	65				
L9.0	SENIORITY	66				
L10.0	SURPLUS AND LAYOFFS	67				
111 0	RECALL	70				

L12.0	CASUAL CALL INS	72
L13.0	REASSIGNMENTS OF SUPPORT STAFF	73
L14.0	JOB POSTING	75
L15.0	TRANSFERS	76
L16.0	HOURS OF WORK	77
L17.0	VACATIONS	79
L18.0	PAID HOLIDAYS	80
L19.0	EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE APPRASAL	80
L20.0	DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE	82
L21.0	GRIEVANCE / ARBITRATION PROCEDURE	82
L22.0	HEALTH AND SAFETY	86
L23.0	DISCRIMINATION / HARASSMENT	86
L24.0	CRIMINAL RECORDS CHECK	87
L25.0	EMPLOYEES WITH DISABILITIES	87
L26.0	MODIFIED WORK POLICY	87
L27.0	SICK LEAVE	88
L28.0	GROUP LIFE AND BENEFITS PLAN	90
L29.0	LEAVES OF ABSENCE	92
	L29.01 Leave of Absence Without Pay	92
	L29.02 Bereavement Leave	93
	L29.03 Special Compassionate	93
	L29.04 Family Medical Leave	94
	L29.05 School Business	94
	L29.06 Medical Quarantine	94
	129 07 Jury/Witness Duty	94

	L29.08 Federation Business	94
	L29.09 Personal Leave Days	96
	L29.10 Adverse Weather Conditions	96
	L29.11 Pregnancy and Parental Leave	97
	L29.12 Pregnancy Leave Benefits	97
L30.0	WORKPLACE SAFETY INSURANCE BENFITS (WSIB) TOP-UP BENEFITS	99
L31.0	WORK OF THE BARGAINING UNIT	100
L32.0	MILEAGE	100
L33.0	TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE	100
L34.0	STAFF/BOARD LIASON	101
L35.0	EMPLOYEE FUNDED LEAVE	101
L36.0	MEDICATION AND MEDICAL PROCEDURES	105
L37.0	PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT	105
L38.0	DURATION AND RENEWAL	105
APPEN	IDIX I – PREGNANCY & PARENTAL LEAVE	108
APPEN	IDIX II – FAMILY MEDICAL LEAVE	109
SCHED	DULE A – SALARY SCHEDULE	110
SCHED	DULE B – LETTER OF FORM	112
SCHEL	DULE C – VOLUNTEER TOWNSHIP LIST	113

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING – SICK LEAVE			
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING – Workplace Violence and Harassment			
Management Guideline	115		
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING – Child and Youth Workers	116		
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING – Pay Equity Maintenance	117		
LETTER OF INTENT – Attendance Support	118		
LETTER OF AGREEMENT #14 Re: Supplemental Employment			
Benefit (SEB) Plan Benefit and Employment Insurance			
(EI)Benefits	119		
LETTER OF AGREEMENT #15 Re: New Job Class, IT Technologist	120		

PART A

TERMS NEGOTIATED CENTRALLY -BETWEEN-

COUNCIL OF TRUSTEES' ASSOCIATION (CTA/CAE)

AND

ONTARIO SECONDARY SCHOOL TEACHERS' FEDERATION (OSSTF/FEESO)

EDUCATION WORKERS

PART A - CENTRAL TERMS

C1.0	STRUCTURE AND CONTENT OF COLLECTIVE	
AGRE	EEMENT (ALL JOB CLASSIFICATIONS)	12
	C1.1 Separate Central and Local Terms	12
	C1.2 Implementation	12
	C1.3 Parties	12
	C1.4 Single Collective Agreement	12
C2.0	LENGTH OF TERM/NOTICE TO BARGAIN/RENEWAL	
	(ALL JOB CLASSIFICATIONS)	12
	C2.1 Term of Agreement	12
	C2.2 Amendment of Terms	12
	C2.3 Notice to Bargain	12
C3.0	DEFINITIONS	13
C4.0	CENTRAL LABOUR RELATIONS COMMITTEE	13
C5.0	CENTRAL GRIEVANCE PROCESS	14
	C5.1 Definitions	14
	C5.2 Central Dispute Resolution Committee	14
	C5.3 Language of Process	15
	C5.4 Grievance Shall Include	16
	C5.5 Referral to the Committee	16
	C5.6 Voluntary Mediation	16
	C5.7 Selection of the Arbitrator	16
C6.0	EXTENDED MANDITORY ENROLLMENT IN OMERS (for employees	
	not currently enrolled	17
C7.0	SPECIALIZED JOB CLASSES	17
C8.0	WORK YEAR	17
C9.0	STAFFING COMMUNICATION	17
C10.0	O BENEFITS	18
	C10.1 ELHT Benefits	18
	C10.2 Eligibility and Coverage	18

C10.3 Funding	19
C10.4 Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) and Employer Contributions	20
C10.5 Benefits Committee	20
C10.6 Privacy	21
C10.7 Benefits not provided by the ELHT	21
C10.8 Payment in Lieu of Benefits	21
C11.0 STATUTORY LEAVES OF ABSENCE/SEB	21
C11.1 Family Medical Leave or Critically III Child Care Leave	21
Supplemental Employment Benefits (SEB)	22
C12.0 SICK LEAVE	22
C12.1 Sick Leave/ Short Term Leave and Disability Plan	22
a) Sick Leave Benefit Plan	22 22 23 24 24 24 25
C13.0 MINISTRY INITIATIVES	26
C14.0 PROVINCIAL FEDERATION RELEASE DAYS	26
APPENDIX A – RETIREMENT GRATUITIES	27
C. Sick Leave Credit-Based Retirement Gratuities (where applicable) D. Other Retirement Gratuities	27 27
APPENDIX B – ABILITES FORM	28
LETTER OF AGREEMENT #1 Re: Sick Leave	30
LETTER OF AGREEMENT #2 Re: Job Security	31

LETTER OF AGREEMENT #3 Re: Provincial Working Group – Health and Safety	33
LETTER OF AGREEMENT #4 Re: Scheduled Unpaid Leave Plan	34
LETTER OF AGREEMENT #5 Re: Status Quo Central Terms	36
LETTER OF AGREEMENT #6 Re: Additional Professional Activity (PA) Day	37
LETTER OF AGREEMENT #7 Re: Children's Mental Health, Special Needs	
and Other Initiatives	38
LETTER OF AGREEMENT #8 Re: Online Reporting Tool for Violent Incidents	39
LETTER OF AGREEMENT #9 Re: Half Day of Violence Prevention Training	40
LETTER OF AGREEMENT #10 Re: Employee Life and Health Trust	
(ELHT) Committee	41
LETTER OF AGREEMENT #2 Re: Benefits (FOR HISTORICAL REFERENCE ONLY)	42
HISTORICAL APPENDIX OF CENTRAL TERMS (FOR HISTORICAL REFERENCE ONLY)	42

OSSTF/FEESO EDUCATION WORKERS – PART A: CENTRAL TERMS

C1.0 STRUCTURE AND CONTENT OF COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT (ALL JOB CLASSIFICATIONS)

C1.1 Separate Central and Local terms

a) The collective agreement shall consist of 2 (two) parts: Central Terms and Local Terms.

C1.2 Implementation

a) Central Terms may include provisions respecting the implementation of central terms by the school board and, where applicable, the bargaining agent. Any such provision shall be binding on the school board and, where applicable, the bargaining agent.

C1.3 Parties

- a) The parties to the collective agreement are the school board and the bargaining agent.
- b) Central collective bargaining shall be conducted by the central employer and employee bargaining agencies representing the local parties.

C1.4 Single Collective Agreement

a) Central terms and local terms shall together constitute a single collective agreement.

C2.0 LENGTH OF TERM/NOTICE TO BARGAIN/RENEWAL (ALL JOB CLASSIFICATIONS)

C2.1 Term of Agreement

a) The term of this collective agreement, including central terms and local terms, shall be for a period of three (3) years from September 1, 2019 to August 31, 2022 inclusive.

C2.2 Amendment of Terms

a) In accordance with the *School Boards Collective Bargaining Act*, the central terms of this agreement, excepting term, may be amended at any time during the life of the agreement upon mutual consent of the central parties and agreement of the Crown.

C2.3 Notice to Bargain

- a) Where central bargaining is required under the School Boards Collective Bargaining Act, notice to bargain centrally shall be in accordance with the School Boards Collective Bargaining Act, and Labour Relations Act. For greater clarity:
- b) Notice to commence bargaining shall be given by a central party:
 - i. within 90 (ninety) days of the expiry of the collective agreement; or
 - ii. within such greater period agreed upon by the parties; or
 - iii. within any greater period set by regulation by the Minister of Education.
- c) Notice to bargain centrally constitutes notice to bargain locally.

C3.0 DEFINITIONS

- C3.1 Unless otherwise specified, the following definitions shall apply only with respect to their usage in standard central terms. Where the same word is used in Part B of this collective agreement, the definition in that part, or any existing local interpretation shall prevail.
- C3.2 The "Central Parties" shall be defined as the employer bargaining agency, the Council of Trustees' Association (CTA/CAE) and the Ontario Secondary School Teachers' Federation (OSSTF/FEESO). The Council of Trustees' Associations (CTA/CAE) refers to the designated employer bargaining agency pursuant to subsection 21 (6) of the Act for central bargaining with respect to employees in the bargaining units for which OSSTF/FEESO is the designated employee bargaining agency. The CTA/CAE is composed of:

ACÉPO refers to the Association des conseils scolaires des écoles publiques de l'Ontario as the designated bargaining agency for every French-language public district school board.

AFOCSC refers to the Association franco-ontarienne des conseils scolaires catholiques as the designated bargaining agency for every French-language Catholic district school board.

OCSTA refers to Ontario Catholic School Trustees' Association as the designated bargaining agency for every English-language Catholic district school board.

OPSBA refers to the Ontario Public School Boards' Association as the designated bargaining agency for every English-language public district school board, including isolate boards.

- C3.3 "Employee" shall be defined as per the *Employment Standards Act*.
- C3.4 "Casual Employee" means,
 - i. a casual employee within the meaning of the local collective agreement,
 - ii. if clause (i) does not apply, an employee who is a casual employee as agreed upon by the board and the bargaining agent, or
 - iii. if clauses (i) and (ii) do not apply, an employee who is not regularly scheduled to work
- C3.5 "Term Assignment" means, in relation to an employee,
 - i. a term assignment within the meaning of the local collective agreement, or
 - ii. where no such definition exists, a term assignment will be defined as twelve (12) days of continuous employment in one assignment.

C4.0 CENTRAL LABOUR RELATIONS COMMITTEE

C4.1 The CTA/CAE and OSSTF/FEESO agree to establish a joint Central Labour Relations Committee to promote and facilitate communication between rounds of bargaining on issues of joint interest.

- C4.2 The parties to the Committee shall meet within sixty days of the completion of the current round of negotiations to agree on Terms of Reference for the Committee.
- C4.3 The Committee shall meet as agreed but a minimum of three times in each school year.
- C4.4 The parties to the Committee agree that any discussion at the Committee will be on a without prejudice and without precedent basis, unless agreed otherwise.
- C4.5 The committee shall include four (4) representatives from OSSTF/FEESO and four (4) representatives from the CTA/CAE. The parties agree that the Crown may attend meetings.
- C4.6 OSSTF/FEESO and CTA/CAE representatives will each select one co-chair.
- C4.7 Additional representatives may attend as required by each party.

C5.0 CENTRAL GRIEVANCE PROCESS

The following process pertains exclusively to grievances on central matters that have been referred to the central process. In accordance with the School Boards Collective Bargaining Act central matters may also be grieved locally, in which case local grievance processes will apply.

C5.1 Definitions

- i. A "grievance" shall be defined as any difference relating to the interpretation, application, administration, or alleged violation or arbitrability of an item concerning any central term of a collective agreement.
- ii. The "Central Parties" shall be defined as the employer bargaining agency, comprised of: the Ontario Public School Boards' Association (OPSBA), I'Association des conseils scolaires des écoles publiques de l'Ontario (ACÉPO), I'Association franco-ontarienne des conseils scolaires catholiques (AFOCSC), Ontario Catholic School Trustees' Association (OCSTA), hereinafter the Council of Trustees' Associations (the "Council"), and the Ontario Secondary School Teachers' Federation, OSSTF/FEESO.
- iii. The "Local Parties" shall be defined as the Board or the local OSSTF/FEESO bargaining unit party to a collective agreement.
- iv. "Days" shall mean regular school days.

C5.2 Central Dispute Resolution Committee

i. There shall be established a Central Dispute Resolution Committee (the "Committee"), which shall be composed of up to four (4) representatives of the employer bargaining agency, up to four (4) representatives of OSSTF/FEESO and up to three (3) representatives of the Crown.

- ii. The Committee shall meet at the request of one of the central parties.
- iii. The central parties shall each have the following rights:
 - a. To file a dispute as a grievance with the Committee.
 - b. To engage in settlement discussions, and to mutually settle a grievance with the consent of the Crown.
 - c. To withdraw a grievance.
 - d. To mutually agree to refer a grievance to the local grievance procedure.
 - e. To mutually agree to voluntary mediation.
 - f. To refer a grievance to final and binding arbitration at any time.
- iv. The Crown shall have the following rights:
 - a. To give or withhold approval to any proposed settlement between the central parties.
 - b. To participate in voluntary mediation.
 - c. To intervene in any matter referred to arbitration.
- v. Only a central party may file a grievance and refer it to the Committee for discussion and review. No grievance can be referred to arbitration without three (3) days prior notice to the Committee.
- vi. It shall be the responsibility of each central party to inform their respective local parties of the Committee's disposition of the dispute at each step in the central dispute resolution process including mediation and arbitration, and to direct them accordingly.
- vii. Each of the central parties and the Crown shall be responsible for their own costs for the central dispute resolution process.

C5.3 Language of Process

Where a dispute arises uniquely under a collective agreement in the French language, the documentation shall be provided, and the proceedings conducted in French. Interpretative and translation services shall be provided accordingly to ensure that non-francophone participants are able to participate effectively.

- a) Where such a dispute is filed:
 - i. The decision of the committee shall be available in both French and English.

ii. Mediation and arbitration shall be conducted in the French language with interpretative and translation services provided accordingly.

C5.4 Grievance Shall Include

- i. Any central provision of the collective agreement alleged to have been violated.
- ii. The provision of any statute, regulation, policy, guideline, or directive at issue.
- iii. A detailed statement of any relevant facts.
- iv. The remedy requested.

C5.5 Referral to the Committee

- i. Prior to referral to the Committee, the matter must be brought to the attention of the other local party.
- ii. The Central Parties may engage in informal discussions of the disputed matter.
- iii. Should the matter remain in dispute at the conclusion of the informal discussions, a central party shall refer the grievance forthwith to the Committee by written notice to the other central party, with a copy to the Crown, but in no case later than 40 days after becoming aware of the dispute.
- iv. The Committee shall complete its review within 20 days of the grievance being filed.
- v. If the grievance is not settled, withdrawn, or referred to the local grievance procedure by the Committee, the central party who has filed the grievance may, within a further 10 days, refer the grievance to arbitration.
- vi. All timelines may be extended by mutual consent of the parties.

C5.6 Voluntary Mediation

- i. The central parties may, on mutual agreement, request the assistance of a mediator.
- ii. Where the central parties have agreed to mediation, the remuneration and expenses of the person selected as mediator shall be shared equally between the central parties.
- iii. Timelines shall be suspended for the period of mediation.

C5.7 Selection of the Arbitrator

i. Arbitration shall be by a single arbitrator.

- ii. The central parties shall select a mutually agreed upon arbitrator.
- iii. The central parties may refer multiple grievances to a single arbitrator.
- iv. Where the central parties are unable to agree upon an arbitrator within 10 days of referral to arbitration, either central party may request that the Minister of Labour appoint an arbitrator.
- v. The remuneration and expenses of the arbitrator shall be shared equally between the central parties.

C6.0 EXTENDED MANDATORY ENROLLMENT IN OMERS (FOR EMPLOYEES NOT CURRENTLY ENROLLED)

Commencing September 1, 2016 for employees hired on or after this date, all school boards will ensure that mandatory OMERS enrollment is extended to employees that meet the following three (3) criteria:

- fills a continuing full-time position with the employer;
- regularly works the employer's normal full-time work-week, defined as no less than thirtytwo
- (32) hours per week; and
- regularly work at least ten (10) months of the year (including paid vacation).

Notwithstanding the above, employees hired prior to September 1, 2016 who meet the above three (3) criteria will be offered the opportunity to enroll in OMERS, commencing September 1, 2016.

C7.0 SPECIALIZED JOB CLASSES

Where there is a particular specialized job class in which the pay rate is below the local market value assessment of that job class, the parties may use existing means under the collective agreement to adjust compensation for that job class.

C8.0 WORK YEAR

The full-time work year for all employees employed in EA and ECE job classes shall be a minimum of 194 work days to correspond with the school year calendar.

C9.0 STAFFING COMMUNICATION

a) In boards where no staffing committee exists, the employer will meet with the union to communicate the number of OSSTF/FEESO Education Worker FTE proposed for the coming school year, prior to the annual staffing process and subject to the approval of the board

budget. Prior to the meeting, the employer shall provide the union the projected FTE. Every effort shall be made to provide the information no later than 24 hours before the meeting.

Outside of the annual process either party may raise staffing issues at appropriate meetings as required.

- b) No surplus/layoff/redundancy declarations shall be made until such time as the union has been notified.
- c) Any release time required for this purpose will not be charged against local collective agreement federation release time.

C10.0 BENEFITS

The Parties have agreed to include in a historical appendix LOA #2 (Benefits) of the 2014-17 Agreement on Central Terms.

The parties have agreed to participate in the Ontario Secondary School Teachers' Federation Employee Life and Health Trust "OSSTF ELHT" established October 6, 2016. The date on which the school boards and the bargaining units benefit plan commenced participation in the OSSTF ELHT shall be referred to herein as the "Participation Date".

C10.1 ELHT Benefits

The Parties agree that, since all active eligible employees have now transitioned to the OSSTF ELHT all references to existing life, health and dental benefits plans in the applicable local collective agreement for active eligible employees shall be removed from that local agreement.

Post Participation Date, the following shall apply:

C10.2 Eligibility and Coverage

- a) Permanent and long-term assignment employees shall be eligible for benefits consistent with eligibility requirements as set out by the Trust. The OSSTF ELHT shall maintain eligibility for OSSTF represented education workers who have benefits. Education Workers who were eligible for benefits in the ELHT as of Aug 31, 2019 shall maintain their eligibility.
 - Daily and casual employees are not eligible, nor are other employees who do not meet the Trust's eligibility criteria.
- b) With the consent of the central parties, the OSSTF ELHT is also permitted to provide coverage to other active employee groups in the education sector with the consent of their bargaining agents and employer or, for non-union groups, in accordance with an agreement between the Trustees and the applicable board.

- c) Retirees who were previously represented by OSSTF/FEESO-Education Workers (EW), who were, and still are members of a board benefit plan as at the Participation Date are eligible to receive benefits through the OSSTF ELHT with funding based on prior arrangements.
- d) No individuals who retire after the Participation Date are eligible.

C10.3 Funding

Funding related to the OSSTF ELHT for the OSSTF/FEESO EW benefit plan will be based on the following:

- a) A reconciliation process based on the financial results for the OSSTF/FEESO-EW benefit plan for the school year ending on August 31, 2022 equal to the lesser of the total cost of the plan per Full Time Equivalency (FTE) and \$5,655 per FTE. The reconciliation will adjust the amount per FTE as of September 1, 2022.
 - i. The financial results for reconciliation shall be based on the audited financial statements for the year ending August 31, 2022. The parties agree to compel the Trust to provide the audited financial statements at the Trust's expense no later than November 30, 2022.
 - ii. The total cost represents the actual costs related to the delivery of benefits. Total cost is defined as the total cost for the OSSTF/FEESO-EW benefit plan on the OSSTF ELHT's August 31, 2022 audited financial statements, excluding any and all costs related to retirees, optional employee benefit costs and any temporary benefit plan enhancements (including but not limited to any reductions to premium share or premium holiday). The parties agree that the audited financial statements should provide a breakdown of total cost which shall include the total cost of benefits and related costs which include but are not limited to claims, administration expenses, insurance premiums, consulting, auditing and advisory fees and all other costs and taxes as reported on the insurance carrier's most recent yearly statement.
 - iii. The total cost of the OSSTF/FEESO-EW benefit plan per FTE represents a) ii. divided by the actual average FTE for the 2021-22 school year reported by school boards in the staffing schedule by Employee/Bargaining group for the school year ending August 31, 2022.
- b) The funding amount prior to September 1, 2019 was \$5489/FTE. This funding amounts shall be increased by:
 - September 1, 2019: 1%
 - September 1, 2020: 1%
 - September 1, 2021: 1%

Funding shall be made retroactive to September 1, 2019.

- c) Funding changes described in a) and b) are contingent on the OSSTF ELHT agreeing that any plan enhancements (including but not limited to any reductions to premium share or premium holidays) to the OSSTF/FEESO-EW benefit plan shall be temporary for the term of the collective agreement and consistent with the following parameters:
 - i. The Claims Fluctuation Reserve shall not decrease below 25% of total OSSTF/FEESO-EW benefit plan costs for the prior year and,
 - ii. the three-year actuarial report does not project a structural deficit in the plan. A structural deficit is defined as benefit plan expenses exceeding revenues adjusted for time limited changes to plan expenses or revenues.

C10.4 Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) and Employer Contributions

- a) For purposes of ongoing funding, the FTE positions shall be those consistent with the Ministry of Education FTE directives as reported in what is commonly known as Appendix Hstaffing schedule by Employee/Bargaining Group for job classifications that are eligible for benefits.
- b) The FTE used to determine the board's benefits contributions shall be based on the estimated average FTE reported by the boards in the staffing schedule by Employee/Bargaining group as of October 31 and March 31.
- c) Monthly amounts paid by the boards to the OSSTF ELHT's administrator based on estimates FTE will be reconciled by the Crown to the actual average FTE reported by the boards in the staffing schedule by Employee/Bargaining group for each school year ending August 31. If the reconciliation of FTE results in any identified differences in funding, those funds shall be remitted to or recovered from the OSSTF ELHT in a lump sum upon notice to the OSSTF ELHT, but no later than 240 days after the school boards' submission of final October FTE and March FTE counts.
- d) In the case of a dispute regarding the FTE used to determine the board's benefits contributions to the OSSTF ELHT, or in the case where a dispute regarding other amounts paid by the board as described above and/or third-party secondment remittance, the dispute shall be resolved between the board and the local union represented by OSSTF/FEESO-EW. Any unresolved dispute shall be forwarded to the Central Dispute Resolution committee.

C10.5 Benefits Committee

As per LOA #10, a benefits committee comprised of OSSTF/FEESO, the CTA/CAE, the Crown and OSSTF ELHT representatives shall convene upon request to address all matters that may arise in the operation of the OSSTF ELHT.

C10.6 Privacy

The Parties agree to inform the OSSTF ELHT Administrator, that in accordance with applicable privacy legislation, it shall limit the collection, use and disclosure of personal information to information that is necessary for the purpose of providing benefits administration services. The OSSTF ELHT benefits pan administrator's policy shall be based on the Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act (PIPEDA).

C.10.7 Benefits not provided by the ELHT

- a) Any further cost sharing or funding arrangements regarding the EI rebate as per previous local collective agreements in effect as of August 31, 2014 will remain status quo.
- b) Where employee life, health and dental benefits coverage was previously provided by the boards for casual or term employees under the local collective agreement in effect as of August 31, 2014, the boards will continue to make a plan available with the same funding arrangement.

C10.8 Payment in Lieu of Benefits

- a) All employees not transferred to the OSSTF ELHT who received pay in lieu of benefits under a collective agreement in effect as of August 31, 2014, shall continue to receive a payment in lieu of benefits.
- b) New hires after the Participation Date who are eligible for benefits from the OSSTF ELHT are not eligible for pay in lieu of benefits.
- **C10.9** Existing employee assistance programs or other similar health and welfare benefits remain in effect in accordance with terms of collective agreements as of August 31, 2019.

C11.0 STATUTORY LEAVES OF ABSENCE/SEB

C11.1 Family Medical Leave or Critical Illness Leave

- a) Family Medical Leave or Critical Illness leave granted to an employee under this Article shall be in accordance with the provisions of the Employment Standards Act, as amended.
- b) The employee will provide to the employer such evidence as necessary to prove entitlement under the ESA.
- c) An employee contemplating taking such leave(s) shall notify the employer of the intended date the leave is to begin and the anticipated date of return to active employment.
- d) Seniority and experience continue to accrue during such leave(s).
- e) Where an employee is on such leave(s), the Employer shall continue to pay its share of the benefit premiums, where applicable. To maintain participation and coverage under the

Collective Agreement, the employee must agree to provide for payment for the employee's share of the benefit premiums, where applicable.

f) In order to receive pay for such leaves, an employee must access Employment Insurance and the Supplemental Employment Benefit (SEB) in accordance with g) to j), if allowable by legislation. An employee who is eligible for E.I. is not entitled to benefits under a school board's sick leave and short term disability plan.

Supplemental Employment Benefits (SEB)

- g) The Employer shall provide for permanent employees who access such Leaves, a SEB plan to top up their E.I. Benefits. The permanent employee who is eligible for such leave shall receive 100% salary for a period not to exceed eight (8) weeks provided the period falls within the work year and during a period for which the permanent employee would normally be paid. The SEB Plan pay will be the difference between the gross amount the employee receives from E.I. and their regular gross pay.
- h) Employees completing a term assignment shall also be eligible for the SEB plan with the length of the benefit limited by the term of the assignment.
- i) SEB payments are available only to supplement E.I. benefits during the absence period as specified in this plan.
- j) The employee must provide the Board with proof that he/she has applied for and is in receipt of employment insurance benefits in accordance with the Employment Insurance Act, as amended, before SEB is payable.

C12.0 SICK LEAVE

C12.1 Sick Leave/Short Term Leave and Disability Plan

a) Sick Leave Benefit Plan

The Sick Leave Benefit Plan will provide sick leave days and short-term disability days for reasons of personal illness, personal injury, including personal medical appointments and personal dental appointments. Routine medical and dental appointments will be scheduled outside of working hours where possible. Casual employees are not entitled to benefits under this article.

b) Sick Leave Days

Subject to paragraphs C12.1 d) i-vi below, full-time Employees will be allocated eleven (11) sick days at one hundred percent (100%) salary in each school year. Employees who are less than full-time shall have their sick leave allocation pro-rated.

c) Short-Term Leave and Disability Plan (STLDP)

Subject to paragraphs C12.1 d) i-vi below, full-time Employees will be allocated one hundred and twenty (120) short-term disability days in September of each school year. Employees who are less than full-time shall have their STLDP allocation pro-rated. Employees eligible to access STLDP shall receive payment equivalent to ninety percent (90%) of regular salary.

d) Eligibility and Allocation

The allocations outlined in paragraphs C12.1 b) and c) above, will be provided on the first day of each school year, subject to the restrictions outlined in C12.1 d) i-vi below.

- An employee is eligible for the full allocation of sick leave and STLDP regardless of start date of employment or return to work from any leave other than sick leave, WSIB or LTD.
- ii. All allocations of sick leave and STLDP shall be pro-rated based on FTE at the start of the school year. Any changes in FTE during a school year shall result in an adjustment to allocations.
- iii. Where an employee is accessing sick leave, STLDP, WSIB or LTD in a school year and the absence due to the same illness or injury continues into the following school year, the employee will continue to access any unused sick leave days or STLDP days from the previous school year's allocation. Access to the new allocation provided as per paragraphs C12.1(b) and (c) for a recurrence of the same illness or injury will not be provided to the employee until the employee has completed eleven (11) consecutive working days at his/her full FTE without absence due to illness.
- iv. Where an employee is accessing STLDP, WSIB, or LTD in the current school year as a result of an absence due to the same illness or injury that continued from the previous school year and has returned to work at less than his/her FTE, the employee will continue to access any unused sick leave days or STLDP days from the previous school year's allocation.

In the event the employee exhausts their STLDP allotment and continues to work part-time their salary will be reduced accordingly and a new prorated sick leave and STLDP allocation will be provided.

Any absences during the working portion of the day will not result in a loss of salary or further reduction in the previous year's sick leave allocation. Once provided, the new allocation will be reconciled as necessary, consistent with (a), (b) and (c) above, to account for any sick leave which may have been advanced prior to the new allocation being provided.

v. A partial sick leave day or short-term disability day will be deducted for an absence for a partial day.

e) Short-Term Leave and Disability Plan Top-up

- i. Employees accessing STLDP will have access to any unused Sick Leave Days from their last year worked for the purpose of topping up salary to one hundred percent (100%) under the STLDP.
- This top-up is calculated as follows:
 Eleven (11) days less the number of sick leave days used in the most recent year worked.
- iii. Each top-up from 90% to 100% requires the corresponding fraction of a day available for top-up.
- iv. In addition to the top-up bank, top-up for compassionate reasons may be considered at the discretion of the board on a case by case basis. The top-up will not exceed two (2) days and is dependent on having two (2) unused Short Term Paid Leave Days in the current year. These days can be used to top-up salary under the STLDP.
- v. When employees use any part of an STLDP day they may access their top up bank to top up their salary to 100%.
- f) Sick Leave and STLDP Eligibility and Allocation for Employees in a Term Assignment Notwithstanding the parameters outlined above, the following shall apply to Employees in a term assignment:
 - i. Employees in term assignments of less than a full year, and/or less than full-time, shall have their allocation of sick leave and STLDP prorated on the basis of the number of work days compared to the full working year for their classification. The length of the sick leave shall be limited to the length of the assignment.
 - ii. Where the length of the term assignment is not known in advance, a projected length must be determined at the start of the assignment in order for the appropriate allocation of sick leave/STLDP to occur. If a change is made to the length of the term or the FTE, an adjustment will be made to the allocation and applied retroactively.
 - iii. An employee who works more than one term assignment in the same school year may carry forward Sick leave and STLDP from one term assignment to the next, provided the assignments occur in the same school year.

g) Administration

- The Board may require medical confirmation of illness or injury to substantiate access to sick leave. If the school board requests, the employee shall provide medical confirmation to access STLDP.
- ii. The Board may require information to assess whether an employee is able to return to work and perform the essential duties of his/her position. Where this is required, such information shall include his/her limitations, restrictions and disability related needs to assess workplace accommodation as necessary (omitting a diagnosis) and will be collected using the form as per Appendix B. An alternate form may be used where one is mutually developed and agreed upon at the local level.
- iii. If the employee's medical practitioner has indicated on the form referenced in (ii) above that the employee is totally disabled from work, the Board will not inquire further with respect to the employee's abilities and/or restrictions until the next review of the employee's abilities and/or restrictions in accordance with the review date indicated on the form, subject to the Board's ability to seek medical reassessment after a reasonable period of time.
- iv. At no time shall the employer or any of its agents contact the medical practitioner directly.
- v. A board decision to deny access to benefits under sick leave or STLDP will be made on a case-by-case basis and not based solely on a denial of LTD or WSIB.
- vi. The employer shall be responsible for any costs related to independent third-party medical assessments required by the employer.

h) Pension Contributions While on Short Term Disability

Contributions for OMERS Plan Members:

When an employee/plan member is on short-term sick leave and receiving less than 100% of regular salary, the Board will continue to deduct and remit OMERS contributions based on 100% of the employee/plan member's regular pay.

Contributions for OTPP Plan Members:

- i. When an employee/plan member is on short-term sick leave and receiving less than 100% of regular salary, the Board will continue to deduct and remit OTPP contributions based on 100% of the employee/plan member's regular pay.
- ii. If the plan employee/plan member exceeds the maximum allowable paid sick leave before qualifying for Long Term Disability (LTD)/Long Term Income Protection (LTIP), pension contributions will cease. The employee/plan member is entitled to complete a purchase of credited service, subject to existing plan provisions for periods of absence due to illness between contributions ceasing under a paid short

term sick leave provision and qualification of Long Term Disability (LTD)/Long Term Income Protection (LTIP) when employee contributions are waived. If an employee/plan member is not approved for LTD/LTIP, such absence shall be subject to existing plan provisions.

C13.0 MINISTRY INITIATIVES

OSSTF/FEESO education workers will be an active participant in the consultation process at the Ministry Initiatives Committee. Ministry Initiatives Committee shall meet at least quarterly each year to discuss new initiatives, including implications for training, resources.

C14.0 PROVINCIAL FEDERATION RELEASE DAYS

- a) At the request of the OSSTF/FEESO Provincial Office, and in accordance with local notification processes, OSSTF/FEESO education workers, subject to program and operational needs, shall be released for provincial collective bargaining and related meetings.
- b) Federation release days granted for the purpose of such provincial federation work will not be charged against local collective agreement federation release time.
- c) OSSTF/FEESO education workers released for such provincial federation work shall receive salary, benefits, and all other rights and privileges under the collective agreement in accordance with local provisions.
- d) OSSTF/FEESO Provincial Office shall reimburse the Employer as per the local collective agreement.
- e) Nothing in this article affects existing local entitlements to Federation Leave.

APPENDIX A - RETIREMENT GRATUITIES

- A. Sick Leave Credit-Based Retirement Gratuities (where applicable)
 - An Employee is not eligible to receive a sick leave credit gratuity after August 31, 2012, except a sick leave credit gratuity that the Employee had accumulated and was eligible to receive as of that day.
 - 2. If the Employee is eligible to receive a sick leave credit gratuity, upon the Employee's retirement, the gratuity shall be paid out at the lesser of,
 - (a) the rate of pay specified by the board's system of sick leave credit gratuities that applied to the Employee on August 31, 2012; and
 - (b) the Employee's salary as of August 31, 2012.
 - 3. If a sick leave credit gratuity is payable upon the death of an Employee, the gratuity shall be paid out in accordance with subsection (2).
 - 4. For greater clarity, all eligibility requirements must have been met as of August 31, 2012 to be eligible for the aforementioned payment upon retirement, and the Employer and Union agree that any and all wind-up payments to which Employees without the necessary years of service were entitled to under Ontario Regulation 01/13: Sick Leave Credits and Sick Leave Credit Gratuities, have been paid.
 - 5. For the purposes of the following board, despite anything in the board's system of sick leave credit gratuities, it is a condition of eligibility to receive a sick leave credit gratuity that the Employee have ten (10) years of service with the board:
 - i. Near North District School Board
 - ii. Avon Maitland District School Board
 - iii. Hamilton-Wentworth District School Board
 - iv. Huron Perth Catholic District School Board
 - v. Peterborough Victoria Northumberland and Clarington Catholic District School Board
 - vi. Hamilton-Wentworth Catholic District School Board
 - vii. Waterloo Catholic District School Board
 - viii. Limestone District School Board
 - ix. Conseil scolaire catholique MonAvenir
 - x. Conseil scolaire Viamonde
- B. Other Retirement Gratuities

An employee is not eligible to receive any non-sick leave credit retirement gratuity (such as, but not limited to, service gratuities or RRSP contributions) after August 31, 2012.

APPENDIX B – ABILITIES FORM

Employee Group:	Requested By:					
WSIB Claim: Yes	SIB Claim: Yes No WSIB Claim Number:					
To the Employee: The purposessential duties of your position	se for this form is to pro	vide the Board with restrictions and/or I	information to assessmitations to assess	ess whether you are able to perform the s workplace accommodation if necessary.		
				ovide to my employer this form when complete. o return to work or perform my assigned duties.		
(Please print)			Employee eign			
Employee ID:			Telephone No:			
Employee Address:			Work Location:			
1. Health Care Profession	nal: The following in	formation should	be completed by	y the Health Care Professional		
Please check one: Patient is capable of returns	rning to work with no r	estrictions.				
Patient is capable of retu	rning to work with rest	rictions. Complete	section 2 (A & B)	§ 3		
this time.	Complete sections 3 and 4. Should the absence continue, updated medical information will next be requested after the date of the					
First Day of Absence:						
Date of Assessment: dd mm yyyy						
objective medical findings		ase outline your	oatient's abilities	and/or restrictions based on your		
PHYSICAL (if applicable)	Ctandina	Sittin an		Lifting from floor to visit		
Walking: ☐ Full Abilities	Standing: ☐ Full Abilities	Sitting: ☐ Full Abili	tion	Lifting from floor to waist:		
	_	☐ Up to 30		☐ Full Abilities		
☐ Up to 100 metres ☐ Up to 15 minutes ☐ 15 - 30 minutes		☐ 30 minut		☐ Up to 5 kilograms ☐ 5 - 10 kilograms		
☐ Other (please specify):	☐ Other (please speci			☐ Other (please specify):		
Other (please specify).	☐ Other (please speci	ny). □ Other (ρ	☐ Other (please specify): ☐ Other (please specify):			
Lifting from Waist to	Stair Climbing:	☐ Use of	hand(s):	1		
Shoulder:	☐ Full abilities	Left Hand	R	light Hand		
☐ Full abilities	☐ Up to 5 steps	☐ Gripping		☐ Gripping		
☐ Up to 5 kilograms	☐ 6 - 12 steps	☐ Pinching		☐ Pinching		
☐ 5 - 10 kilograms ☐ Other (please specify):	Other (please speci	ify): ☐ Other (p	lease specify): [Other (please specify):		

☐ Bending/twisting	☐ Work at or above	☐ Chemical ex	onosure to	Travel to Work:	
repetitive movement of	shoulder activity:	Onemical exposure to		Ability to use public transit	☐ Yes ☐ No
(please specify):	,				
				Ability to drive car	☐ Yes ☐ No
2B: COGNITIVE (please co	mplete all that is applicable)				
Attention and	Following Directions:	Decision-		Multi-Tasking:	
Concentration:	☐ Full Abilities	Making/Superv	ision:	☐ Full Abilities	
Full Abilities	Limited Abilities	☐ Full Abilities		☐ Limited Abilities	
Limited Abilities	☐ Comments:	Limited Abilit	ies	☐ Comments:	
Comments: Ability to Organize:	Momony	Comments: Social Interacti	ion:	Communication:	
Full Abilities	Memory: ☐ Full Abilities	☐ Full Abilities	OII.	Full Abilities	
☐ Limited Abilities	Limited Abilities	Limited Abilit	ies	Limited Abilities	
Comments:	Comments:	Comments:		Comments:	
Please identify the assessm	ent tool(s) used to determine	e the above abil	ities (Example	s: Lifting tests, grip strengtl	n tests, Anxiety
Inventories, Self-Reporting,	etc.				
Additional comments on Li	mitations (not able to do) a	ind/or Restricti	ons (<u>should/r</u>	<u>must</u> not do) for all medic	al conditions:
3: Health Care Profession	al to complete.				
	sment, the above will apply for	or	Have you dis	scussed return to work with	your patient?
approximately:					,
☐ 6-10 days ☐ 11- 15 d	days ☐ 16- 25 days ☐	☐ 26 + days	☐ Yes	□ No	
	hours and start date (if appli		Start Date:	dd mm	уууу
Regular full time hours [Is patient on an active treatr					
lo pationt on an active treat	non plan.				
Has a referral to another He	alth Care Professional been	made?			
Yes (optional - please speci	fy):			No	
		· · · ·			
	will you continue to be the p			Provider? Yes	∐ No
4: Recommended date of n	ext appointment to review A	bilities and/or R	estrictions:	dd mm	уууу
Completing Health Care P	rofossional Namo:				
(Please Print)	Totessional Name.				
Date:					
Telephone Number:					
Fax Number:					
Signature:					

BETWEEN

The Council of Trustees' Associations/
Le Conseil des associations d'employeurs
(hereinafter called 'CTA/CAE')

AND

The Ontario Secondary School Teachers' Federation/
Fédération des enseignantes-enseignants des écoles secondaires de l'Ontario
(hereinafter called the 'OSSTF/FEESO')

RE: Sick Leave

The parties agree that any current collective agreement provisions and/or Board policies/practices/procedures related to Sick Leave that do not conflict with the clauses in the Sick Leave article in the Central Agreement shall remain as per August 31, 2019.

Such issues include but are not limited to:

- 1. Requirements for the provision of an initial medical document.
- 2. Responsibility for payment for medical documents.

The parties agree that attendance support programs are not included in the terms of this Letter of Agreement.

BETWEEN

The Council of Trustees' Associations/
Le Conseil des associations d'employeurs
(hereinafter called 'CTA/CAE')

AND

The Ontario Secondary School Teachers' Federation/
Fédération des enseignantes-enseignants des écoles secondaires de l'Ontario
(hereinafter called the 'OSSTF/FEESO')

RE: Job Security

The parties acknowledge that education workers contribute in a significant way to student achievement and well-being.

- For the purpose of this Letter of Agreement, the overall protected complement is equal to the FTE
 number (excluding temporary, casual and/or occasional positions) as at date of central ratification. The
 FTE number is to be agreed to by the parties through consultation at the local level. Appropriate
 disclosure will be provided during this consultation. Disputes with regard to the FTE number may be
 referred to the Central Dispute Resolution Process.
- 2. Effective as of the date of central ratification, the Board undertakes to maintain its Protected Complement, except in cases of:
 - a. A catastrophic or unforeseeable event or circumstance;
 - b. Declining enrolment;
 - c. School closure and/or school consolidation; or
 - d. Funding reductions directly related to services provided by bargaining unit members.
- 3. Where complement reductions are required pursuant to 2. above, they shall be achieved as follows:
 - a. In the case of declining enrolment, complement reductions shall occur at a rate not greater than the rate of student loss, and
 - b. In the case of funding reductions, complement reductions shall not exceed the funding reductions.
- 4. Notwithstanding the above, a board may reduce their complement through attrition. Attrition is defined as positions held by bargaining unit members that become vacant and are not replaced, subsequent to the date of central ratification.
- 5. Reductions as may be required in 2 above shall only be achieved through lay-off after consultation with the union on alternative measures, which may include:

- a. priority for available temporary, casual and/or occasional assignments;
- b. the establishment of a permanent supply pool where feasible;
- c. the development of a voluntary workforce reduction program (contingent on full provincial government funding).
- 6. Staffing provisions with regard to surplus and bumping continue to remain a local issue.
- 7. The above language does not allow trade-offs between the classifications outlined below:
 - a. Educational Assistants
 - b. DECEs and ECEs
 - c. Administrative Personnel
 - d. Custodial Personnel
 - e. Cafeteria Personnel
 - f. Information Technology Personnel
 - g. Library Technicians
 - h. Instructors
 - i. Supervision Personnel (including child minders)
 - j. Professional Personnel (including CYWs and DSWs)
 - k. Maintenance/Trades
- 8. Any and all existing local collective agreement job security provisions remain.
- 9. This Letter of Agreement expires on August 30, 2022.

BETWEEN

The Council of Trustees' Associations/
Le Conseil des associations d'employeurs
(hereinafter called 'CTA/CAE')

BETWEEN

The Ontario Secondary School Teachers' Federation/
Fédération des enseignantes-enseignants des écoles secondaires de l'Ontario
(hereinafter called the 'OSSTF/FEESO')

AND

The Crown/Couronne

RE: Provincial Working Group - Health and Safety

The parties agree to continue to participate in the Provincial Working Group - Health and Safety in accordance with the Terms of Reference dated May 25, 2016 including any updates to such Terms of Reference. The purpose of the working group is to consider areas related to health and safety in order to continue to build and strengthen a culture of health and safety mindedness in the education sector.

Where best practices are identified by the committee, those practices will be shared with school boards.

The Provincial Working Group – Health and Safety shall meet a minimum of four (4) times and a maximum of eight (8) times per school year.

BETWEEN

The Council of Trustees' Associations/
Le Conseil des associations d'employeurs
(hereinafter called 'CTA/CAE')

AND

The Ontario Secondary School Teachers' Federation/
Fédération des enseignantes-enseignants des écoles secondaires de l'Ontario
(hereinafter called the 'OSSTF/FEESO')

RE: Scheduled Unpaid Leave Plan

The following Scheduled Unpaid Leave Plan (SULP) is available to all permanent employees for the 2020-2021, and 2021-2022 school years. Employees approved for SULP days shall not be replaced.

For employees who work a ten (10) month year a school board will identify:

1) Two (2) Professional Activity days in each of the years outlined above that will be made available for the purpose of the SULP.

For employees whose work year is greater than ten (10) months, a School Board will designate days, subject to system and operational requirements, which will be available for the purpose of the SULP in each of the school years listed above. These employees will be eligible to apply for up to two (2) days leave in each of these years.

The days will be designated by June 15, of the current school year for the upcoming school year. All interested employees will be required to apply, in writing, for leave by no later than September 30, of the current school year. Approval of the SULP is subject to system and operational needs of the Board and school. Approved leave days may not be cancelled or changed by the School Board or the employee. Half day leaves may be approved, subject to the system and operational needs of the board and school.

For employees enrolled in the OMERS pension, the employer will deduct the employee and employer portion of pension premiums for the unpaid days and will remit same to OMERS.

The following clause is subject to either Teacher Pension Plan amendment or legislation:

Within the purview of the Teachers' Pension Act (TPA), the Minister of Education will seek an agreement from the Ontario Teachers' Federation (OTF) to amend the Ontario Teachers' Pension Plan (OTPP) to allow for

adjusting pension contributions to reflect the Scheduled Unpaid Leave Plan (SULP) with the following principles:

- i) Contributions will be made by the employee/plan member on the unpaid portion of each unpaid day, unless directed otherwise in writing by the employee/plan member;
- ii) The government/employer will be obligated to match these contributions;
- iii) The exact plan amendments required to implement this change will be developed in collaboration with the OTPP and the co-sponsors of the OTPP (OTF and the Minister of Education); and
- iv) The plan amendments will respect any legislation that applies to registered pension plans, such as the Pension Benefits Act and Income Tax Act.

This Letter of Agreement expires on August 30, 2022.

BETWEEN

The Council of Trustees' Associations/
Le Conseil des associations d'employeurs
(hereinafter called 'CTA/CAE')

AND

The Ontario Secondary School Teachers' Federation/
Fédération des enseignantes-enseignants des écoles secondaires de l'Ontario
(hereinafter called the 'OSSTF/FEESO')

RE: Status Quo Central Items

Status quo central items

The parties agree that the following central issues have been addressed at the central table and that the provisions shall remain status quo. For further clarity, if language exists, the following items are to be retained as written in 2014-2017 local collective agreements. As such the following issues shall not be subject to local bargaining or mid-term amendment between local parties. Disputes arising in respect of such provisions shall be subject to Section 43 of the *School Boards Collective Bargaining Act*.

Issues:

- 1. Short Term Paid Leaves (number of days)
- 2. Paid Vacation
- 3. Paid Holidays (including statutory holidays)
- 4. Allowances/Premiums (excluding percentage increase)
- Work Day/Work Week (excluding scheduling)
- 6. ECE Grid
- 7. DECE/ECE Preparation Time
- 8. Professional Judgment and Reporting
- 9. WSIB Top-Up Benefits
- 10. Staffing Levels (except as otherwise noted in this agreement)
- 11. Notification of Potential Risk of Physical Injury Workplace Violence

BETWEEN

The Council of Trustees' Associations/
Le Conseil des associations d'employeurs
(hereinafter called 'CTA/CAE')

AND

The Ontario Secondary School Teachers' Federation/
Fédération des enseignantes-enseignants des écoles secondaires de l'Ontario
(hereinafter called the 'OSSTF/FEESO')

Re: Additional Professional Activity (PA) Day

The parties confirm that there will continue to be seven (7) PA days per school year during the term of this collective agreement. There will be no loss of pay for OSSTF/FEESO members (excluding casual employees) as a result of the implementation of the seventh PA day. For further clarity, the additional PA day will be deemed a normal work day. OSSTF/FEESO members will be required to attend and perform duties as assigned. Notwithstanding, these days may be designated as SULP days.

BETWEEN

The Council of Trustees' Associations/
Le Conseil des associations d'employeurs
(hereinafter called 'CTA/CAE')

AND

The Ontario Secondary School Teachers' Federation/
Fédération des enseignantes-enseignants des écoles secondaires de l'Ontario
(hereinafter called the 'OSSTF/FEESO')

AND

The Crown/Couronne

RE: Children's Mental Health, Special Needs and Other Initiatives

The parties acknowledge the ongoing implementation of the children's Mental Health Strategy, the Special Needs Strategy, and other initiatives within the province of Ontario.

The parties further acknowledge the importance of initiatives being implemented within the provincial schools system including but not limited to the addition of Mental Health Leads, and the protocol for partnerships with external agencies/service providers.

It is agreed and affirmed that the purpose of the initiatives is to enhance existing mental health and at risk supports to school boards in partnership with existing professional student services support staff and other school personnel. It is not the intention that these enhanced initiatives displace OSSTF/FEESO members, nor diminish their hours of work.

BETWEEN

The Council of Trustees' Associations/
Le Conseil des associations d'employeurs
(hereinafter called 'CTA/CAE')

AND

The Ontario Secondary School Teachers' Federation/
Fédération des enseignantes-enseignants des écoles secondaires de l'Ontario
(hereinafter called the 'OSSTF/FEESO')

AND

The Crown/Couronne

RE: Online Reporting Tool for Violent Incidents

The Parties agree that it is in their mutual interest to ensure that any remaining issues regarding the implementation of the Online Incident Reporting Tool described in Memorandum SB06, dated April 19, 2018 ("Memorandum SB06") are addressed at the earliest available opportunity.

To that end, by no later than September 30, 2020 each School Board and OSSTF/FEESO local will meet, with the assistance of the Joint Health and Safety Committee as necessary, to review the reporting tool implemented by the School Board to ensure that it is consistent with Memorandum SB06.

If the Parties agree that the reporting tool implemented by the Board is consistent with Memorandum SB06, they will then consult regarding training for the new reporting tool in accordance with LOA #9 (Half Day of Violence Prevention Training). The Board will ensure that those who were unable to attend the Half Day of Violence Prevention Training will also have an opportunity to receive training for the new reporting tool.

Any disagreement as to whether the reporting tool implemented by the Board is consistent with Memorandum SB06, will be referred to the Central Labour Relations Committee (CLRC) by no later than October 15, 2020. If the CLRC determines that the reporting tool implemented by a School Board is not consistent with Memorandum SB06, it will advise the relevant School Board(s) of any remaining issues relating to the implementation of the reporting tool by no later than November 1, 2020. The Board will implement any necessary changes.

The data gathered by the School Board through the Online Incident Reporting Tool will be provided to each local. This data will be provided in an aggregated report with due regard to student and staff privacy and any relevant legislation.

BETWEEN

The Council of Trustees' Associations/
Le Conseil des associations d'employeurs
(hereinafter called 'CTA/CAE')

AND

The Ontario Secondary School Teachers' Federation/
Fédération des enseignantes-enseignants des écoles secondaires de l'Ontario
(hereinafter called the 'OSSTF/FEESO')

AND

The Crown

RE: Half Day of Violence Prevention Training

Effective in the 2020-21 school year and each subsequent year, one half Professional Activity (PA) day will be allocated for violence prevention training. This half PA day will occur prior to December 31st of each year.

Each year, the School Board shall consult with the union and the Joint Health and Safety Committee regarding the topics and scheduling of this half PA day designated for violence prevention training.

Topics may include but are not limited to:

- Roadmap Resource
- Online Incident Reporting Software
- Notification of Potential Risk of Injury Forms
- Prevention and De-escalation of Violence
- Effective Risk Assessments and Safety Plan Development

The Parties recommend that the material produced by the Provincial Working Group – Health and Safety be used as resource material for this training.

BETWEEN

The Council of Trustees' Associations/
Le Conseil des associations d'employeurs
(hereinafter called 'CTA/CAE')

AND

The Ontario Secondary School Teachers' Federation/
Fédération des enseignantes-enseignants des écoles secondaires de l'Ontario
(hereinafter called the 'OSSTF/FEESO')

AND

The Crown

RE: Employee Life and Health Trust (ELHT) Committee

In order to support member experience related to the OSSTF ELHT and contain administrative costs, the parties agree to establish a joint central committee specific to OSSTF/FEESO. This committee will be comprised of representatives from both parties and will include the Crown as a participant.

The committee's mandate will be to identify and discuss matters related to compliance with administrative issues which will include the following:

- Discuss member experience issues including new member data transfers;
- Review and assess the monthly compliance reporting document from the Ontario Teachers' Insurance Plan:
- Identify and discuss any issues regarding information, data processing or member coverage;
- Identify and discuss issues related to remittance payments;
- Identify and discuss issues related to plan administrator inquiries; and
- Identify other issues of concern to the CTA/CAE, school boards, the ELHT and the OSSTF/FEESO provincial and local units in respect of benefits.
- Facilitate the sharing of data between the local boards and local unions relevant to amounts paid by the boards to the OSSTF ELHT. Such data may include Appendix H, OTIP Secondment Funding Remittance forms, and other such forms reporting the amounts paid by the boards.

THIS LOA WILL BE RETAINED FOR HISTORICAL REFERENCE ONLY

LANGUAGE FROM SEPTEMBER 1, 2014- AUGUST 31, 2017, AND EXTENSION UNTIL AUGUST 31, 2019

LETTER OF AGREEMENT #2

BETWEEN

The Council of Trustees' Associations/
Le Conseil des associations d'employeurs
(hereinafter called 'CTA/CAE')

AND

The Ontario Secondary School Teachers' Federation/
Fédération des enseignantes-enseignants des écoles secondaires de l'Ontario
(hereinafter called the 'OSSTF/FEESO')

AND

The Crown/Couronne

RE: Benefits

The parties agree that, once all employees to whom this memorandum of settlement of the central terms applies become covered by the employee life and health trust contemplated by this Letter of Agreement (LOA), all references to life, health and dental benefits in the applicable local collective agreement shall be removed from that local agreement.

The OSSTF-EW shall request inclusion into the OSSTF Employee Life and Health Trust (ELHT), (hereinafter, the "Trust") within fifteen (15) days of central ratification. Should OSSTF-EW fail to reach agreement, consistent with the parameters contained herein, by January 15, 2016, the parties to this LOA will meet to consider other options.

The parties to this LOA agree to comply with the Trust's requirements. The provisions of the agreement between OSSTF-EW and OSSTF shall be reflected in the OSSTF trust participation agreement. The provisions contained herein shall be applicable to OSSTF-EW within the Trust.

The Participation Date for OSSTF-EW shall be no earlier than September 1, 2016 and no later than August 31, 2017 and may vary by Board.

1.0.0 GOVERNANCE

1.1.0 OSSTF-EW shall be a separate division within the Trust and accounted for separately.

- 1.2.0 The parties confirm their intention to do the following:
 - a) Provide education workers access to the same plan as that of the teacher's plan.
 - b) Take necessary actions in accordance with the Trust agreement for any period in which the claims fluctuation reserve is less than 8.3% of annual expenses over a projected three year period.

2.0.0 ELIGIBILITY and COVERAGE

- 2.1.0 The following OSSTF-EW represented employees are eligible to receive benefits through the Trust:
 - 2.1.1 Employees who are covered by the Local Collective Agreement and currently eligible for benefits in collective agreements.
 - 2.1.2 Retirees who were, and still are, members of a District School Board hereinafter referred to as the "Board(s)" benefit plan at August 31, 2013 based on the prior arrangements with the Board.
 - 2.1.3 Retirees who became members of a Board benefit plan after August 31, 2013 and before the Board Participation Date are segregated in their own experience pool, and the premiums are fully paid by the retirees.
 - 2.1.4 No individuals who retire after the Board Participation Date are eligible.
- 2.2.0 The benefit plan may provide coverage for health (including but not limited to vision and travel), life and dental benefits including accidental death and dismemberment (AD&D), medical second opinion, and navigational support, subject to compliance with section 144.1 of the ITA. Other employee benefit programs may be considered for inclusion, only if negotiated in future central collective agreements.
- 2.3.0 Each Board shall provide to the Trustees of the OSSTF ELHT directly, or through its Insurance Carrier of Record, Human Resource Information System (HRIS) information noted in Appendix A within one (1) month of notification from the Trustees, in the format specified by the Trustees.

3.0.0 FUNDING

3.1.0 Start-Up Costs

- 3.1.1 The Government of Ontario will provide:
 - d. A one-time contribution to the Trust equal to 15% of annual benefit costs to establish a Claims Fluctuation Reserve ("CFR"). The amount shall be paid to the Trust on or before September 1, 2016.
 - e. A one-time contribution of 2.6% of annual benefit costs (estimated to be approximately \$1.25 million), to cover start-up costs and/or reserves.
- 3.1.2 The one-time contributions in 3.1.1 (a) and (b) will be based on the actual cost per year for benefits (i.e. claims, premiums, administration, tax, risk or profit charges, pool charges, etc.) as reported on the insurance carrier's most recent yearly statement for the year ending no later than August 31, 2015. The statements are to be provided to the Ministry of Education.
- 3.1.3 The Crown shall pay \$600,000 of the startup costs referred to in s. 3.1.1 (b) on the date of ratification of the central agreement and shall pay a further \$600,000 subject to the maximum

amount referred to in s. 3.1.1 (b) by June 1, 2016. The balance of the payments, if required under s. 3.1.1 (b), shall be paid by the Crown on the day the Trust becomes effective. The funds shall be transferred as instructed by OSSTF-EW subject to the province's transfer payment and accountability requirements.

3.2.0 On-Going Funding

- 3.2.1 On the day the Board commences participation in the Trust, or as soon as reasonably and feasibly possible thereafter, all eligible and available surpluses in board-owned defined benefit plans will be transferred to the Trust in an amount equal to each employee's pro rata share based on the amount of the employee's co-share payment of each benefit. The remaining portion of the Board's surplus will be retained by the Board.
- 3.2.2 Where there are active grievances related to surpluses, deposits and/or reserves, the amount in dispute shall be internally restricted by the Board until the grievance is settled.
- 3.2.3 All Board reserves for Incurred But Not Reported ("IBNR") claims and CFR, will remain with the existing carriers until those reserves are released by the carriers based on the terms of existing contracts.
- 3.2.4 Upon release of each Board's IBNR and CFR by the carriers, the reserves will be retained by the applicable Board. For the Administrative Services Only plans (ASO), a surplus (including any deposits on hand) that is equal to or less than 15% of the Board's annual benefit cost will be deemed to be a CFR and IBNR and will be retained by the applicable Board upon its release by the carriers. Where a surplus (including deposits on hand) exceeds 15% of the annual benefit cost, the remaining amount will be apportioned to the Board and the Trust based on the employers' and employees' premium share.
- 3.2.5 For policies where the experience of multiple groups has been combined, the existing surplus/deficit will be allocated to each group based on the following:
 - a) If available, the paid premiums or contributions or claims costs of each group; or
 - b) Failing the availability of the aforementioned financial information by each group, then the ratio using the number of Full Time Equivalent positions (FTE) covered by each group in the most recent policy year will be used.

The methodology listed above will be applicable for each group leaving an existing policy where the experience of more than one group has been aggregated. Policies where the existing surplus/deficit has been tracked independently for each group are not subject to this provision.

- 3.2.6 Boards with deficits will recover the amount from their CFR and IBNR. Any portion of the deficit remaining in excess of the CFR and IBNR will be the responsibility of the board.
- 3.2.7 In order to ensure the fiscal sustainability of said benefit plans, the Boards will not make any withdrawal, of any monies, from any health care benefit plan reserves, surpluses and/or deposits nor decrease in benefit plan funding unless in accordance with B-Memo B04:2015. It is the parties' understanding that the Ministry of Education Memo B04:2015 applies and will remain in effect until Board plans become part of the Trust.
- 3.2.8 The Trust shall retain rights to the data and the copy of the software systems.
- 3.2.9 For the current term, the Boards agree to contribute funds to support the Trust as follows:
 - a. The Boards will continue to provide benefits in accordance with the existing benefit plans and co-pay arrangements until the Employees' Participation Date in the Trust.

- b. By August 31, 2016 for Board-owned defined benefit plans, the Boards will calculate the annual amount of i) divided by ii) which will form the base funding amount for the Trust;
 - i) "Total cost" means the total annual cost of benefits and related costs including but not limited to claims, administration expenses, insurance premiums, consulting, auditing and advisory fees and all other costs and taxes, as reported on the insurance carrier's most recent yearly statement, and if any, premium costs on other district school area board, for the year ending no later than August 31, 2015. The aforementioned statements are to be provided to the Ministry of Education.
 - Total Cost excludes retiree costs and casual employee costs.

 The average number of Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) positions in the bargaining unit as at October 31st and March 31st for the period consistent with this clause.
 - ii) For purposes of i) above, the FTE positions will be those consistent with Appendix H of the Education Finance Information System (EFIS) for job classifications that are eligible for benefits.
- c. All amounts determined in this Article 3 shall be subject to a due diligence review by the OSSTF-EW. The school boards shall cooperate fully with the review, and provide, or direct their carriers or other agents to provide, all data requested by the OSSTF-EW. If any amount cannot be agreed between the OSSTF-EW and a school board, the parties shall make every effort, in good faith, to resolve the issue using the data provided, supporting information that can be obtained and reasonable inferences on the data and information. If no resolution to the issue can be achieved, it shall be subject to the Central Dispute Resolution process.
 - i) In order that each party be satisfied that the terms of this LOA provide a satisfactory basis to deliver benefits in the future, each party reserves the right to conduct a thorough due diligence with respect to existing benefit arrangements (including benefit terms, eligibility terms, FTE positions in the bargaining unit, historic costs and trends).
 - Prior to May 1, 2016, if either OSSTF-EW or the CTA/Crown concludes, in good faith following its due diligence review, that the terms of the LOA do not provide a satisfactory basis for the provision of benefits then either OSSTF-EW or the CTA/Crown may declare this LOA to be null and void, in which case no Participation Dates for any Boards shall be triggered and the benefits related provisions to all agreements, as they were before the adoption of this LOA, shall remain in full force and effect.
 - ii) Prior to September 1, 2016, on any material matter, relating to Article 3.2.9 (b), OSSTF-EW or the CTA/Crown can deem this LOA to be null and void. No Participation Dates for any Boards shall be triggered and the benefits related provisions of all local agreements, as they were before the adoption of this LOA, shall remain in full force and effect.
- d. On the participation date, for defined benefit plans, the Boards will contribute to the Trust \$5,075 per FTE.
- e. The actual cost of the benefit plan shall be determined based on a cost per FTE reconciliation process that will be completed 18 months after the last board's Participation

Date. Based on this reconciliation process, if the actual cost in the aggregate is less than \$5,075, the funding per FTE amount will be adjusted to reflect the lesser of the two amounts.

- f. On the Participation Date, for defined contribution plans, the board will contribute to the Trust, the FTE amount of \$5,075. In 2015-16, for Federation owned plans, if the following three conditions are met:
 - i) there is an in-year deficit,
 - ii) the deficit described in i) is not related to plan design changes,
 - iii) the aggregate reserves and surpluses are less than 8.3% of total annual costs/premiums,

then the in-year deficit in i) would be paid by the board associated with the deficit. If in 2014-15 i) and ii) above apply, and the deficit reduces the reserves and surpluses to zero, then the deficit in 2014-15 will be paid by the Board.

- g. With respect to 3.2.9 (d) and 3.2.9 (f) above, the contributions provided by the Boards will include the employees' share of the benefit cost as specified by the Board's collective agreement until such time that the employees' share is adjusted as determined by the Trust and subject to the funding policy.
- h. With respect to casual employees and term assignments, where payment is provided in lieu of benefits coverage, this arrangement will remain the on-going obligation of the boards. Where benefits coverage was previously provided by the Boards for casual employees and term assignments, this arrangement will remain the on-going obligation of the affected Boards. The affected Boards will find a similar plan, for these employees, that is cost neutral to the Boards, recognizing inflationary cost as follows: plus 4% for 2015-16 and 4% for 2016-17.
- i. The terms and conditions of any existing Employee Assistance Program/Employee Family Assistance Program and Long Term Disability Plan shall remain the responsibility of the respective Board and not the Trust maintaining current employer and employee co-share where they exist. The Board shall maintain its contribution to all statutory benefits as required by legislation (including but not limited to Canada Pension Plan, Employment Insurance, Employer Health Tax, etc.).
- j. The FTE used to determine the Board's benefits contributions will be based on the average of the Board's FTE as of October 31st and March 31st of each year.
- k. Funding previously paid under 3.2.9 (b), (d) and (e) above will be reconciled to the agreed October 31st and March 31st FTE and any identified difference will be remitted to the Trust in a lump sum on or before the last day of the month following reconciliation.
- I. In the case of a dispute regarding the FTE number of members for whom the provincial benefits package is being provided, the dispute will be resolved between the Board and the OSSTF Provincial Office.
- m. As of the day that a Board commences participation in the Trust, the Board will submit an amount equal to 1/12th of the negotiated funding amount as defined in s. 3.2.1 (b), (d) and (e) to the Plan's Administrator on or before the last day of each month.
- n. The Trust will provide the necessary information needed by Boards to perform their administrative duties required to support the Trust in a timely and successful manner.

- o. The Boards shall deduct premiums as and when required by the Trustees of the OSSTF ELHT from each member's pay on account of the benefit plan(s) and remit them as and when required by the Trustees to the Trust Plan Administrator of the OSSTF ELHT with supporting documentation as required by the Trustees.
- p. Funding for retirees shall be provided based on the costs or premiums in 2014-15 associated with those retirees described in 2.1.2 and 2.1.3 plus 4% in 2015-16 and 4% in 2016-17. Employer and employee co-shares will remain status quo per local collective agreements in place as of August 31, 2014 or per existing benefit plan provisions.
- q. The Trust shall determine employee co-pay, if any.

4.0.0 TRANSITION COMMITTEE

4.1.0 Subject to the approval of OSSTF, OSSTF-EW may have representation on the OSSTF transition committee regarding all matters that may arise in the creation of the OSSTF-EW division.

5.0.0 PAYMENTS

5.1.0 The Crown will make a recommendation to the Lieutenant Governor in Council to amend the Grants for Student Needs funding regulation indicating that the funding amount provided for benefit of the OSSTF-EW members must be provided to the Trust in accordance with the Letter of Agreement.

6.0.0 ENROLMENT

- 6.1.0 For new hires, each Board shall distribute benefit communication material as provided by the Union to all new members within 15 to 30 days from their acceptance of employment.
- 6.2.0 For existing members, the Board shall provide the Human Resource Information System (HRIS) file with all employment information to the Trustees as outlined in Appendix A.
- 6.3.0 Where an HRIS file cannot be provided, the Board shall provide the required employment and member information to the Trust Plan Administrator in advance of the member commencing active employment or within the first 30 days of the employment date. The Board shall enter any subsequent demographic or employment changes as specified by the Trust Plan Administrator within one week of the change occurring.
- 6.4.0 The benefit administration for all leaves, including Long-Term Disability where applicable, will be the responsibility of the Trust Plan Administrator. During such leaves, the Board shall continue to provide HRIS information and updates as defined above.
- 6.5.0 Each Board shall provide updated work status in the HRIS file a minimum of 2 weeks in advance of the leave or within the first 15 days following the start of the absence.

7.0.0 ERRORS AND OMISSIONS RELATED TO DATA

- 7.1.0 Board errors and retroactive adjustments shall be the responsibility of the Board.
- 7.2.0 If an error is identified by a Board, notification must be made to the Trust Plan Administrator within seven (7) days of identification of the error.
- 7.3.0 Upon request by the Trust Plan Administrator, a Board shall provide all employment and member related information necessary to administer the provincial benefit plan(s). Such requests shall not be made more frequently than twice in any 12 month period.

7.4.0 The Trust Plan Administrator or designate has the right to have their representatives review employment records related to the administration of the Trust at a Board office during regular business hours upon 30 days written notice.

8.0.0 CLAIMS SUPPORT

- 8.1.0 The Board shall complete and submit the Trust Plan Administrator's Waiver of Life Insurance Premium Plan Administrator Statement to the Trust Plan Administrator for life waiver claims when the Trust Plan Administrator does not administer and adjudicate the LTD benefits.
- 8.2.0 Each Board shall maintain existing beneficiary declarations. When required, the Board shall provide the most recent beneficiary declaration on file to the Trust Plan Administrator. Any changes subsequent to the participation date shall be the responsibility of the Trust.

9.0.0 PRIVACY

9.1.0 In accordance with applicable privacy legislation, the Trust Plan Administrator shall limit the collection, use and disclosure of personal information to information that is necessary for the purpose of providing benefits administration services. The Trust Plan Administrator's policy shall be based on the Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act (PIPEDA).

Appendix A - HRIS File

Each Board may choose to provide to the Trustees of the OSSTF ELHT directly, or provide authorization through its Insurance Carrier of Record to gather, the following information within one (1) month of notification from the Trustees. The following information shall be provided in the formats agreed to by the Trustees of the OSSTF ELHT and the employer representatives:

- a. complete and accurate enrolment files for all members, member spouses and eligible dependents, including:
 - iii. names;
 - iv. benefit classes;
 - v. plan or billing division;
 - vi. location;
 - vii. identifier;
 - viii. date of hire;
 - ix. date of birth;
 - x. gender;
 - xi. default coverage (single/couple/family).
- b. estimated return to work dates;
- c. benefit claims history as required by the Trustees;
- d. list of approved pre-authorizations and pre-determinations;
- e. list of approved claim exceptions;
- f. list of large amount claims based on the information requirements of the Trustees;
- g. list of all individuals currently covered for life benefits under the waiver premium provision; and member life benefit coverage information.

THIS LOA WILL BE RETAINED FOR HISTORICAL REFERENCE ONLY

LANGUAGE FROM SEPTEMBER 1, 2014- AUGUST 31, 2017, AND EXTENSION UNTIL AUGUST 31, 2019

LETTER OF AGREEMENT #9

BETWEEN

The Council of Trustees' Associations/
Le Conseil des associations d'employeurs
(hereinafter called 'CTA/CAE')

AND

The Ontario Secondary School Teachers' Federation/
Fédération des enseignantes-enseignants des écoles secondaires de l'Ontario
(hereinafter called the 'OSSTF/FEESO')

RE: Status Quo Central Items as Modified by this Agreement

The parties agree that the following central issues have been addressed at the central table and that the provisions shall remain status quo. For further clarity the following language must be aligned with current local provisions and practices to reflect the provisions of the 2012-13 MOU. As such the following issues shall not be subject to local bargaining or mid-term amendment by the local parties. Disputes arising in respect of such provisions shall be subject to Section 43 of the *School Boards Collective Bargaining Act/ 2014*.

1. Pregnancy Leave Benefits

Definitions

- a) "casual employee" means,
 - i. a casual employee within the meaning of the local collective agreement,
 - ii. if clause (i) does not apply, an employee who is a casual employee as agreed upon by the board and the bargaining agent, or
 - iii. if clauses (i) and (ii) do not apply, an employee who is not regularly scheduled to work
- b) "term assignment" means, in relation to an employee,
 - i. a term assignment within the meaning of the local collective agreement, or
 - ii. where no such definition exists, a term assignment will be defined as twelve (12) days of continuous employment in one assignment

Common Central Provisions

a) The Employer shall provide for permanent employees and employees in term assignments who access such leaves, a SEB plan to top up their E.I. Benefits. An employee who is eligible for such leave shall receive salary for a period immediately following the birth of her child,

but with no deduction from sick leave or the Short Term Disability Program (STLDP). The SEB Plan pay will be the difference between the gross amount the employee receives from E.I. and her regular gross pay.

- b) SEB payments are available only to supplement E.I. benefits during the absence period as specified in this plan.
- c) Employees in term assignments shall be entitled to the benefits outlined in a) above, with the length of the SEB benefit limited by the term of the assignment.
- d) Casual employees are not entitled to pregnancy leave benefits.
- e) The employee must provide the Board with proof that she has applied for and is in receipt of employment insurance benefits in accordance with the *Employment Insurance Act*, as amended, before SEB is payable.
- f) Permanent employees and employees in term assignments not eligible for employment insurance benefits or the SEB plan will receive 100% of salary from the employer for the total of not less than eight (8) weeks with no deduction from sick leave or STLDP.
- g) Where any part of the eight (8) weeks falls during the period of time that is not paid (i.e. summer, March Break, etc.), the remainder of the eight (8) weeks of top up shall be payable after that period of time.
- h) Permanent employees and employees in term assignments who require longer than the eight (8) week recuperation period shall have access to sick leave and the STLDP subject to meeting the requirements to provide acceptable medical verification.
- i) If an employee begins pregnancy leave while on approved leave from the employer, the above maternity benefits provisions apply.
- j) The start date for the payment of the pregnancy benefits shall be the earlier of the due date or the birth of the child.
- k) Births that occur during an unpaid period (i.e. summer, March break, etc.) shall still trigger the pregnancy benefits. In those cases the pregnancy benefits shall commence on the first day after the unpaid period.

Local Bargaining Units will identify which of the SEB Plans below apply in their circumstance. The applicable language must be included with the Common Central language above as paragraph I). The full article should then reside in Part B of the collective agreement:

i. A SEB plan to top up their E.I. Benefits for eight (8) weeks of 100% salary is the minimum for all eligible employees. An employee who is eligible for such leave shall receive 100% salary

for a period not to exceed eight (8) weeks immediately following the birth of her child but with no deduction from sick leave or the Short Term Leave Disability Program (STLDP). The SEB Plan pay will be the difference between the gross amount the employee receives from E.I. and their regular gross pay;

- ii. A SEB Plan with existing superior entitlements;
- iii. A SEB or salary replacement plan noted above that is altered to include six (6) weeks at 100%, subject to the aforementioned rules and conditions, plus meshing with any superior entitlements to maternity benefits. For example, seventeen (17) weeks at 90% pay would be revised to provide six (6) weeks at 100% pay and an additional eleven (11) weeks at 90%.

2. Workplace Safety Insurance Benefits (WSIB) Top Up Benefits

Where a class of employees was entitled to receive WSIB top-up on August 31, 2012 deducted from sick leave, the parties must incorporate those same provisions without deduction from sick leave in the 2014-2017 collective agreement. The top-up amount to a maximum of four (4) years and six (6) months shall be included in the 2014-17 collective agreement.

Employees who were receiving WSIB top-up on September 1, 2012 shall have the cap of four (4) years and six (6) months reduced by the length of time for which the employee received WSIB top-up prior to September 1, 2012.

For boards who did not have WSIB top-up prior to the MOU, status quo to be determined.

3. Short Term Paid Leaves

The parties agree that the issue of short term paid leaves has been addressed at the central table and the provisions shall remain status quo to the provisions in current local collective agreements. For further clarity, any leave of absence in the 2008-2012 local collective agreement that utilized deduction from sick leave, for reasons other than personal illness shall be granted without loss of salary or deduction from sick leave, to a maximum of five (5) days per school year. For clarity, those boards that had five (5) or less shall remain at that level. Boards that had five (5) or more days shall be capped at five (5) days. These days shall not be used for the purpose of sick leave, nor shall they accumulate from year to year.

Short term paid leave provisions in the 2008-12 collective agreement that did not utilize deduction from sick leave remain status quo and must be incorporated into the 2014-17 collective agreement. Provisions with regard to short term paid leaves shall not be subject to local bargaining or amendment by local parties. However, existing local collective agreement language may need to be revised in order to align with the terms herein.

4. Retirement Gratuities

The issue of Retirement Gratuities has been addressed at the Central Table and the parties agree that formulae contained in current local collective agreements for calculating Retirement Gratuities shall govern payment of retirement gratuities and be limited in their application to terms outlined in Appendix A - Retirement Gratuities.

Disputes arising in respect of such provisions shall be subject to Section 43 of the *School Boards Collective Bargaining Act.*

The following language shall be inserted unaltered as a preamble to Retirement Gratuity language into every collective agreement:

"Retirement Gratuities were frozen as of August 31, 2012. An Employee is not eligible to receive a sick leave credit gratuity or any non-sick leave credit retirement gratuity (such as, but not limited to, service gratuities or RRSP contributions) after August 31, 2012, except a sick leave credit gratuity that the Employee had accumulated and was eligible to receive as of that day.

The following language applies only to those employees eligible for the gratuity above:" [insert current Retirement Gratuity language from local collective agreement]

5. Long Term Disability (LTD)

The Long Term Disability (LTD) waiting periods, if any, contained in the 2008-2012 collective agreement should be retained as written. However, to reflect current requirements, plans with a waiting period of more than 130 days shall cause the Short Term Leave and Disability Plan to be extended to the minimum waiting period required by the plan.

PART B

TERMS NEGOTIATED LOCALLY

BETWEEN

SUPERIOR-GREENSTONE DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

AND

THE ONTARIO SECONDARY SCHOOL TEACHERS' FEDERATION

-Representing-

The Educational Support Staff of the Ontario Secondary School Teachers' Federation

PART B - LOCAL Terms

L1.0	PURPOSE	58
L2.0	DEFINITIONS	58
L3.0	RECOGNITION	60
L4.0	MANAGEMENT	63
L5.0	NO STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS	63
L6.0	UNION MEMBERSHIP AND DUES DEDUCTION	63
L7.0	PAYMENT OF WAGES	64
L8.0	PERSONNEL FILES	65
L9.0	SENIORITY	66
L10.0	SURPLUS AND LAYOFFS	67
L11.0	RECALL	70
L12.0	CASUAL CALL INS	72
L13.0	REASSIGNMENT OF SUPPORT STAFF	73
L14.0	JOB POSTING	75
L15.0	TRANSFERS	76
L16.0	HOURS OF WORK	77
L17.0	VACATIONS	79
L18.0	PAID HOLIDAYS	80
L19.0	EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL	80
L20.0	DISCIPLINE & DISCHARGE	82
L21.0	GRIEVANCE / ARBITRATION PROCEDURE	82
L22.0	HEALTH AND SAFETY	86
L23.0	DISCRIMINATION / HARASSMENT	86
L24.0	CRIMINAL RECORDS CHECK	87

L25.0	EMPLOYEES WITH DISABILITES	87
L26.0	MODIFIED WORK POLICY	87
L27.0	SICK LEAVE	88
L28.0	GROUP LIFE AND BENEFIT PLANS	90
L29.0	LEAVES OF ABSENCE	92
	L29.01 Leave of Absence Without Pay	92
	L29.02 Bereavement Leave	93
	L29.03 Special Compassionate	93
	L29.04 Family Medical Leave	94
	L29.05 School Business	94
	L29.06 Medical Quarantine	94
	L29.07 Jury / Witness Duty	94
	L29.08 Federation Business	94
	L29.09 Personal Leave Days	96
	L29.10 Adverse Weather Conditions	96
	L29.11 Pregnancy and Parental Leave	97
	L29.12 Pregnancy Leave Benefits	97
L30.0	WORKPLACE SAFETY INSURANCE BENFITS (WSIB)	
	TOP UP BENEFITS	99
L31.0	WORK OF THE BARGAINING UNIT	100
L32.0	MILEAGE	100
L33.0	TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE	100
L34.0	STAFF / BOARD LIASON	101
L35.0	EMPLOYEE FUNDED LEAVE	101
L36.0	MEDICATION AND MEDICAL PROCEDURES	105
137 0	PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT	105

L38.0 DURATION AND RENEWAL	105
APPENDIX I – PREGNANCY & PARENTAL LEAVE	108
APPENDIX II – FAMILY MEDICAL LEAVE	109
SCHEDULE A – SALARY SCHEDULE	110
SCHEDULE B – LETTER OF FORM	112
SCHEDULE C – VOLUNTEER TOWNSHIP LIST	113
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING – Sick Leave	114
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING – Workplace Violence and	
Harassment Management Guideline	115
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING – Child and Youth Workers	116
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING – Pay Equity Maintenance	117
LETTER OF INTENT – Attendance Support	118
LETTER OF AGREEMENT #14 - Supplemental Employment Benefit	
(SEB) Plan Benefit and Employment Insurance (El) Benefits	119
LETTER OF AGREEMENT – Re: New Job Class, IT Technologist	120

L1.0 PURPOSE

- L1.01 It is the right and purpose of the Parties to maintain harmonious relationships between the Board and Educational Support Staff in the bargaining unit and to cooperate to the fullest extent in an endeavour to provide the best possible educational service.
- L1.02 It is the desire of the Parties to set forth in this agreement certain of the terms of employment for Educational Support Staff covered in this agreement.

L2.0 DEFINITIONS

- L2.01 Casual Employee: is an employee who works for the Board from time to time on an as needed basis but not for more than fifteen (15) consecutive days.
- L2.02 Casual employees are paid only for hours worked.

 Notwithstanding entitlements provided for by Part A of this Collective Agreement, only the following articles of Part B of this Collective Agreement apply to casual employees:
 - L1. Purpose
 - L2. Definitions
 - L3. Recognition
 - L4. Management Functions
 - L5. No Strikes or Lockouts
 - L6. Union Membership and Dues
 - L7. Payment of Wages
 - L8. Personnel Files
 - L12. Casual Call Ins
 - L16. Hours of Work
 - L21. Grievance/Arbitration
 - L22. Health and Safety
 - L23. Discrimination/Harassment
 - L25. Employees with Disabilities
 - L32. Mileage

- L2.02.01 Temporary Employee: is an employee employed in the same assignment for more than 15 consecutive days but not more than 1 year. Notwithstandingentitlements provided for by Part A of this Collective Agreement, and subject to paragraphs (a) and (b) below, only the following articles of Part B apply to temporary employees:
 - L1. Purpose
 - L2. Definitions
 - L3. Recognition
 - L4. Management Functions
 - L5. No Strikes or Lockouts
 - L6. Union Membership and Dues
 - L7. Payment of Wages
 - L8. Personnel Files
 - L12. Casual Call Ins
 - L16. Hours of Work
 - L21. Grievance/Arbitration
 - L22. Health and Safety
 - L23. Discrimination/Harassment
 - L25. Employees with Disabilities
 - L32. Mileage
 - a) Temporary employees engaged for an assignment, which is known in advance to exceed three (3) consecutive months, will be entitled to participate in the benefits listed below from the outset of their assignment. If the assignment is not known to exceed three (3) consecutive months at the outset, the temporary employee will be entitled to participate in the benefits listed below on the first day of the fourth consecutive month or as soon as it becomes known that the assignment will exceed three (3) consecutive months.
 - Medical Insurance paragraph 5 of Article L28.0 (a) Group Life and Benefit

Plans

- Dental Benefit Plan paragraph 6 of Article L28.0 (a)
 Group Life and Benefit Plans
- b) Temporary employees shall be entitled to one (1) personal leave day for each completed period of four (4) consecutive months of work.
- c) Where a temporary employee is not assigned due to a professional development day or board holiday, such days shall not be considered a break in service.
- d) Where a temporary employee who is not eligible for (b) and needs to take a day off without pay due to personal or family commitments, such day shall not be considered a break in service.
- e) When a casual employee is employed in the same assignment for fifteen (15) consecutive days or greater, the employee shall receive the appropriate salary grid hourly rate retroactive to the first day employed in the casual position.
- f) All temporary employees shall be paid at Step 0 of the appropriate salary grid for the position held. Permanent members who post into a temp position, in the same job class as their permanent position, shall be paid at their current step on the appropriate salary grid. Recall members who post into a temp position, in the same job class as their recall position, shall be paid at their step at time of layoff on the appropriate salary grid. Permanent or recall members who post into a temp position outside their job class shall be paid at Step 0 of the appropriate salary grid.

L3.0 RECOGNITION

L3.01 The Superior-Greenstone District School Board recognizes the Ontario Secondary School Teachers' Federation as the exclusive bargaining agent for all Office, Clerical and Technical Employees, Educational Assistants, Attendance Counsellors, Child and Youth Workers, Designated Early Childhood Educators and IT Technologist employed by the Board save and except the executive secretary, supervisors, persons above the rank of supervisor, students employed for the school vacation period and employees in the bargaining units for which another trade union holds bargaining right.

- L3.02 The Board recognizes the negotiating team of the Bargaining Unit as the group authorized to negotiate on behalf of the Union.
- L3.03 This Agreement is binding upon the Board and OSSTF and upon its members employed by the Board.
- L3.04 The Board recognizes the right of the Bargaining Unit to have any advisory agent, counsel, solicitor or duly authorized representative assist, advise or represent the Bargaining Unit in all matters pertaining to the negotiation and administration of this Collective Agreement.
- L3.05 OSSTF recognizes the right of the Superior-Greenstone District School Board to have any advisory agent, counsel, solicitor or duly authorized representative assist, advise or represent the Board in all matters pertaining to the negotiation and administration of this Collective Agreement.
- a) An Employee is entitled to Union representation at any meeting called for the purposes of discussing discipline, demotion or discharge. The Board will inform the Employee of this right in advance of the meeting and will inform the Bargaining Unit President that the meeting is to take place. An employee has the right to defer the meeting until such representation is available. Representation will be secured within two (2) working days.
 - b) In the event that the employer wishes to meet with an employee as part of an attendance support program for the purposes of discussing the employee's attendance, the employer shall notify the employee and the union president.
 - c) An employee shall have the right to OSSTF representation at any meeting which is part of an attendance support program or any pre-scheduled meeting where the employee's attendance history is to be discussed.
- L3.07 The Board shall permit the Union to inspect and make copies of minutes, at its expense, of all public meetings of the Board and its Committees.

- L3.08 The Bargaining Unit shall notify the Board annually in writing of the names of its officers authorized to represent the Bargaining Unit.
- L3.09 The Board shall provide the Union with bulletin board space in each school on which to post Union notices.
- L3.10 The Board shall provide all new hires with a copy of the Collective Agreement and with the name of the Bargaining Unit President.
- L3.11 The Board shall notify the Bargaining Unit President, in writing, of all new hires within ten (10) working days of the date of hire by the Board. This notification shall include the employee's name, classification and location of the position within the Board.
- L3.12 The Board will recognize the Branch President and/or designate for the purpose of assisting employees within their Branch with the administration of the Collective Agreement and the business directly pertinent thereto.
- L3.13 The Union acknowledges that the Union representatives referred to in Article L3.12 have their regular duties to perform on behalf of the Board. Consequently, the Union representatives shall attempt to conduct Union business outside of working hours. Where that is not possible, the representatives shall not leave their regular duties without having first secured the permission of their immediate supervisor. In accordance with this understanding, such representatives shall not suffer any loss of pay while performing Union duties in accordance with this Article.
- L3.14 Appendices and Letters of Understanding:

Attached to and forming an integral part of this Collective Agreement are the following items:

- i. Appendix A: Employment Standards Act Pregnancy and Parental Leave
- ii. Appendix B: Employment Standards Act Family Medical Leave
- iii. Schedule A: Salary schedule
- iv. Schedule B: Letter of Form
- v. Schedule C: Volunteer Township List
- vi. Letter of Understanding: Sick Leave
- vii. Letter of Understanding: Workplace Violence and Harassment Management Guideline

- viii. Letter of Understanding: Child and Youth Workers
- ix. Letter of Understanding: Pay Equity Maintenance
- x. Letter of Intent: Attendance Support
- xi. Letter of Agreement SEB
- xii. Letter of Agreement New Job Class IT Technologist
- L3.15 The Board shall email the Bargaining Unit President a copy of each Personnel Report following adoption of the report by the Board.

L4.0 MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS

- L4.01 It is the sole and exclusive right and obligation of the Board to exercise its management functions and trustee responsibilities and to manage the affairs of the Board and to exercise these rights and obligations in a manner consistent with this Agreement.
- L4.02 All rights not expressly granted to employees hereunder are reserved to the Board. The Board shall retain all other rights, privileges and discretions here before vested in it. It is understood and agreed, however, that the aforesaid rights are subject to, but only to, such restrictions governing the exercise of those rights as are expressly provided in this Agreement and relevant Acts and Regulations.

L5.0 NO STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS

L5.01 There shall be no strike or lockout during the term of this Agreement. The terms "strike" and "lockout" shall bear the meaning given them in the *Labour Relations Act*, as amended.

L6.0 UNION MEMBERSHIP AND DUES DEDUCTION

- L6.01 All employees of the Board covered by this agreement shall, as a condition of continued employment, become and remain members in good standing of OSSTF.
- L6.02 All future employees of the Board covered by this agreement shall, as a condition of

continued employment, become members of OSSTF within thirty (30) days of commencing employment with the Board.

- L6.03 On each pay date the Board shall deduct from each member who receives a cheque/deposit the OSSTF regular monthly dues and any dues chargeable by the Bargaining Unit. The amounts shall be determined by OSSTF and/or the Bargaining Unit in accordance with their respective constitutions and forwarded in writing to the Board at least thirty (30) days prior to the expected date of change.
- L6.04 The OSSTF dues deducted shall be forwarded to the Treasurer of OSSTF, 60 Mobile Drive, Toronto, Ontario, M4A 2P3 no later than the fifteenth of the month following the date on which the deductions were made. The payment shall be accompanied by a list showing the names of the employees, their S.I.N. numbers, their addresses, wages earned for the period, amount of dues deducted and the number of days worked. The Board shall provide this information in written and electronic form.
- L6.05 Any Bargaining Unit dues deducted shall be forwarded to the Treasurer of OSSTF District 6B, Superior North, no later than the fifteenth of the month following the date on which the deductions were made. The payment shall be accompanied by a list showing the names of the employees, their S.I.N. numbers, their addresses, wages earned for the period, amount of dues deducted and the number of days worked. The Board shall provide this information in written and electronic form.
- L6.06 OSSTF agrees to indemnify and save harmless any action against the Board resulting from such deductions authorized by the OSSTF and/or Bargaining Unit.

L7.0 PAYMENT OF WAGES

- L7.01 The employer shall pay salaries and wages in accordance with the Salary Schedule, "SCHEDULE A", attached hereto and forming part of this Agreement.
- L7.02 The employees covered by this agreement shall be paid twice a month, on the 15th and the 30th. Pay periods shall end on Friday and payroll statements will be distributed not later than the following Friday.

- L7.03 Casual employees covered by this Agreement shall be paid twice a month, on the 15th and the 30th. Pay periods shall end on Friday and payroll statements will be distributed not later than the following Friday. Casual employees who have worked from the 1st to the 15th shall be paid on the 30th of the month and casual employees who have worked from the 16th to the 31st shall be paid on the 15th of the following month.
- L7.04 Retired Employees who perform casual work in the same job class as prior to retirement shall be paid at the same step on the appropriate grid as at their retirement.

L8.0 PERSONNEL FILES

- Employees in the Bargaining Unit shall have access to their personnel files at reasonable times in the presence of a member of the Administration. Upon written request employees shall be provided with a copy of material contained in such files. It is understood that should there be mutual agreement between the employee and the Administrator, that an item is inaccurate; the item shall be removed and destroyed or corrected as appropriate. All copies distributed to any other worksite shall also be removed and destroyed or corrected as appropriate. It is further understood that should there be no mutual agreement between the employee and the Administrator; the employee shall have the right to make a written reply to the item, which the employee feels is inaccurate. The reply shall form part of the employee's file. No additions to the employee's file shall be made without the employee receiving a copy. There shall be only one official Personnel File for each employee. This file shall be kept at the Board Office.
- L8.02.1 The record of any disciplinary action shall be removed and destroyed after twenty-four (24) months following such action provided the employee has received no other discipline within that period. All copies distributed to any other worksite shall also be removed and destroyed.

Notification that disciplinary action has been removed and destroyed shall be forwarded to the Bargaining Unit President within two (2) days of the removal.

- L8.02.2 A bargaining unit member may make a request to his/her principal that the letter of expectation be removed from his/her personnel file once the expectations as set out in the letter have been met. In any case, the letter of expectation will be removed and destroyed no later than twenty-four months (24) following the issuance of the letter of expectation, provided the employee has not received any other discipline or letter of expectation for a similar issue within that period.
- L8.03 Material removed and destroyed from members file shall not be referred to or used against the member in any way. For further clarity, but not so as to limit the generality of the foregoing, it shall not be used against the member in order to demote, dismiss, discharge or discipline the member in any way, nor shall it be used against the member in any arbitration or any other legal proceeding.
- L8.04 The Board shall ensure that all medical information is stored in a secure location and in a confidential manner. The employee shall have access to their file upon request.

L9.0 SENIORITY

- L9.01 Seniority is defined as time since date of hire in the Bargaining Unit and shall include service with the employer prior to the certification of the Bargaining Unit. Seniority will be applied to the Bargaining Unit on a board-wide basis injob posting, recalls, promotions, transfers, and layoffs. When a tie occurs because two (2) or more employees have started work on the same day, the tie shall be broken as follows:
 - (a) Total years experience with the Board
 - (b) Years of service in the same job function with another Board
 - (c) By lot, in a manner determined by the Board and the Union.
- L9.02 The employer shall maintain a seniority list showing each employee's name, total experience with the employer, classification and place of work. This seniority list shall include members with recall status. On or before October 31 and May 31 of each year,

the employer shall post a copy of an up-to-date seniority list in all work locations with members covered by this Collective Agreement. Any questions as to the accuracy of the seniority dates must be submitted within fifteen (15) working days of the posting of the list, following which, the dates will be considered to be correct.

- L9.03 Seniority rights shall cease for any one of the following reasons when an employee:
 - a) Resigns
 - b) Is discharged and is not reinstated through the grievance procedure or arbitration
 - c) Is laid off and decides to take severance pay.
- L9.04 The employer shall notify employees who are to be laid off as outlined in the *Employment Standards Act*.
- L9.05 An employee will be on probation until he/she has completed ninety (90) days of active employment with the Board. Should an employee receive an unsuccessful interim performance appraisal as per 19.03(b), the probationary period may be extended to 120 days. Upon successful completion of the probationary period, he/she shall then be credited with seniority equal to the probationary served and seniority thus acquired shall be applied in the manner set out in this agreement. The following leaves will be recognized for seniority purposes: pregnancy leave, parental leave, leave of absence, sick leave, secondment, long term disability, Employee Funded Leave Plan, Workers Compensation, Family Medical Leave, a leave of absence to undertake a temporary position with the Board not covered by this Collective Agreement, for the first twelve (12) months of such leave, and any other Board-approved leave contained within this agreement where it is stated that seniority shall continue to accrue.

L10.0 SURPLUS and LAYOFFS

- L10.01 If the Board intends to initiate layoffs, it will, as soon as possible, meet at a Staff/Board Liaison Committee Meeting, to discuss the following in order to reduce the impact of layoffs:
 - a) inviting retirements
 - b) offering voluntary resignations
 - c) offering interested employees the option of taking a reduced assignment/job sharing

- d) approving leaves of absences including leaves beyond the period normally allowed by the Board
- e) any other feasible, mutually agreeable options
- L10.02 a) For the purposes of this article, workplace shall be grouped in seven (7) communities:
 - i. Beardmore
 - ii. Geraldton-Longlac
 - iii. Nakina
 - iv. Manitouwadge
 - v. Marathon
 - vi. Nipigon-Red Rock and Dorion
 - vii. Terrace Bay and Schreiber
 - b) For the purposes of this Article layoff shall mean:
 - i. Reduction of hours of employment resulting in lower F.T.E
 - ii. Reduction in staff
- L10.03 In the event of reduction of the number of positions in any job classification in any workplace, the least senior employee in that job classification in that workplace shall be notified electronically that such employee is surplus.

The President of the Bargaining Unit shall be notified of the employees who are declared surplus.

Bumping Procedure:

For the purposes of this Article the Full-time Equivalent (F.T.E.) of an employee shall be determined in reference to the normal full-time hours for the classification in which the employee works. For example, the F.T.E. of an employee who works 3 hours/day in a classification whose normal full-time hours is 6 hours per day is 0.5; the F.T.E. of an employee who works 3 hours per day in a classification whose normal full-time hours are 7 hours per day is 0.43.

- L10.05 For the purposes of the Bumping Procedures, the F.T.E. of an employee holding two (2) part-time positions in the same classification is a 1.0.
- L10.06 The employee notified in Article L10.02 above shall have the choice of accepting lay off or bumping a less senior employee in that job classification with the same F.T.E. (if one exists) within that community, however the employee must decide within three (3) working days.
- L10.07 If the employee cannot bump an employee with the same

 F.T.E. within the same job classification within the same community, the employee shall have the right to bump a less senior employee with the same job classification on a board-wide basis. However, if the employee would prefer to remain in the same community, the employee may choose to bump a less senior employee with a lower F.T.E. in the same job classification in the same community.
- L10.08 If the employee cannot bump within the job classification, or the employee chooses not to bump outside the community, the surplus employee shall have the right to bump a less senior employee, in the following sequence, provided the surplus employee meets the qualifications set out in the job description. The employee, however, must be afforded a reasonable orientation and familiarization period for up to three (3) continuous months.
 - a) A less senior employee in any classification in the same or lower grade salary level, within the community, with the same F.T.E. and if such does not exist;
 - b) A less senior employee in any classification in the same or lower grade salary level, within the community, with a lower F.T.E.
- L10.09 If the surplus employee still cannot bump within the community, the employee shall have the right to displace a less senior employee on a board-wide basis according to the procedure set out in Article L10.07.
- L10.10 In order to prevent layoffs, permanent employees who have not been placed through the Bumping Procedure, shall be offered, in order of seniority, temporary position(s), within the employee's job classification or for which the employee can

perform the job without formal training, while maintaining their rights and entitlements as a permanent employee under the Collective Agreement. No Temporary Employee shall be employed except where the surplus employee has refused the offer to be assigned to a temporary position.

- L10.11 After exhausting the above procedures, permanent employees who have not been placed shall be laid off.
- L10.12 a) Employees on lay off shall retain the right of recall for thirty-six (36) months after which time employment is terminated.
 - b) Notwithstanding L10.12 (a), members on recall on or after September 1, 2008 shall have their recall rights extended to August 31, 2012 if necessary, for the purpose of the Letter of Understanding, re: PDT implementation.
- L10.13 Employees on layoff may submit a written request to the Board to be placed on a school(s) casual call-in list. The request shall identify the positions and the schools for which they are available. The Board will forward the information to the respective schools by September 15th of each school year and any time throughout the year as lay offs occur.

L11.0 RECALL

- L11.01 Before hiring externally to fill a vacancy, the Board shall offer the vacancy to an employee, beginning with the most senior employee with the highest F.T.E., who has the ability to do the work and who has suffered a loss of regularly scheduled hours due to a lay off. The employee, however, must be afforded a reasonable orientation and familiarization period for up to three (3) continuous months.
- L11.02 No new employee will be hired until all persons on lay off and having the ability to do the work have been given an opportunity for recall.
- L11.03 Notice of recall to work shall be made to the employee's Board email address.

 Should the employee not have access to Board email, they may provide another means of contact which the Board will utilize to confirm recall.

- L11.04 All employees eligible for recall are responsible to notify the Board of their email address, address and telephone number.
- An employee who accepts a permanent position through the recall procedures shall be reinstated as though there had been no interruption in service with full rights and benefits unless specifically modified by this agreement.
- L11.06 The employee notified of a recall must advise the Board of their intention to return to work within ten (10) days from date of mailing of such notification. The employee must return to work within a period of time satisfactory to both the employee and the Board.
- L11.07 An employee may refuse a recall to any of the following positions and not lose seniority nor the right to exercise the employee's seniority for any subsequent job opening:
 - A temporary position
 - A position with a lower FTE than that of the position from which the employee was laid off
 - A position outside the job classification from which the employee was laid off
 - A position outside the employee's community.
- a) An employee who has been recalled to a position different from the position from which the employee was laid off shall maintain the right for twenty-four (24) months to return to the former position if it becomes open.
 - b) An employee who has been recalled to a different community from which the employee was laid off shall maintain the right for twenty-four (24) months to return to the former community if a position becomes open. If the employee is the successful applicant for the posting, the member shall be provided with three (3) calendar days to accept or decline the position before the position will be offered to another applicant.

L11.09 Employees with recall rights, who are able to preform the duties of the position, shall be called fist for temporary employment beginning with the most senior laid-off.

L12.0 CASUAL CALL INS

- L12.01 a) The Board, from time to time, requires work to be performed on a casual or "as needed" basis. Prior to calling in other persons for such work, the Board shall attempt to contact employees in the community with recall rights, in order of seniority, who have the ability to perform the casual work available.
 - b) Where there are no employees within the community with recall rights who have the ability to perform the casual work available and subject to any operational requirements, the Board shall offer the casual work to a part-time employee in the community who has the ability to perform the work and whose part-time position does not conflict with the available casual work.
 - c) Part-time employees performing casual work, in their own classification will be paid their salary grid position. All others shall be paid the casual rate.
 - d) Casual work will not be considered when determining whether or not an employee is qualified for a permanent or temporary position.
- L12.02 a) The Casual Supply Roster shall be broken down by job position and shall provide the following information for each casual member:
 - 1. Name
 - 2. Home or alternate telephone number
 - 3. Preference of casual position
 - 4. Availability
 - 5. Job status (recall, part time, casual)
 - b) When filling a casual assignment, the employees on the roster shall be contacted in the following sequence:

- 1. Recall employees in order of seniority
- 2. PT Permanent members identified as "PT"
- 3. All other casuals
- c) The Board shall post electronically the Casual Supply Roster for the upcoming school year by October 31st of each year.
- d) Casual employees shall notify the Human Resources Department of the Board as soon as practicable, in writing, of any changes to telephone numbers required by the Board to contact the Casual Employee regarding available positions.

L13.0 REASSIGNMENT OF SUPPORT STAFF

- L13.01 The parties recognize that it is a management right of the Board to reassign support staff personnel, with the exception of information technology personnel and attendance counsellors, as required according to the provisions set out below:
- L13.02 In accordance with L13.01, above, the Board agrees only to exercise that management right under the following conditions:
 - i. Support staff personnel shall be assigned primarily to a particular school within a township ("school township");
 - ii. The Board agrees that it will not reassign support staff personnel outside of their school township unless that assignment occurs within the township in which the individual resides ("residence township") or any other township in which the individual has expressly agreed in advance to be reassigned ("volunteer township");
 - iii. The parties agree that support staff personnel will be provided with an opportunity to identify the volunteer townships for which they agree to be reassigned pursuant to a sign-up sheet, attached in draft at Schedule "C";

- iv. Designation on the volunteer township list may be reconsidered at the discretion of the support staff personnel individual, with advance notice to the Board;
- v. Reassignments within the school township will be assigned in the time period as required in the circumstances, but in any case, the work day shall not exceed the hours of work as defined in Article 16 (including any travel time between the school assignments);
- vi. Reassignment in the residence township and volunteer township shall last at least one day and shall not exceed the hours of work as defined in Article 16;
- vii. Support staff shall not be reassigned from one job class to another;

L13.03 For all reassignments, the Board agrees:

- To endeavour to first secure a support staff personnel employee who holds the appropriate qualifications for the reassignment to agree to be reassigned; if such agreement cannot be secured, the Board will then make its assignment accordingly;
- ii. to provide the Union with prior notification, if known, of such reassignment or as soon as practical in the circumstances;
- iii. to exercise its discretion for reassignment of support staff personnel for any circumstances that the Board deems appropriate having regard to Article L12.01;
- iv. to limit the length of the reassignment to the greatest extent possible in the circumstances, but in any case, in accordance with Article L11.09 and L14.02.
- L13.04 The parties acknowledge that the terms of Article L13do not apply to Professional Development.

L14.0 JOB POSTING

- Subject to Article L14.02, all job vacancies within the bargaining unit shall be posted electronically for a period of five (5) working days on the Board Website; or be directed on the Board Website to the Apply To Education platform. The posting shall show the classifications vacant, the normal requirements of the job, the number of hours per week, the rate of pay and the location of the position. One electronic copy of the job posting shall be sent to the Bargaining Unit President and Branch Presidents on record, the day it is posted.
 - b) Notwithstanding the requirements of 14.01(a), job vacancies for 10 month employees that arise within the bargaining unit after the last day of school shall be posted electronically starting on August 15 for a period of three (3) calendar days on the Board Website; or be directed on the Board Website to apply through the Apply to Education platform. The three (3) calendar day period is only in effect from August 15 to the commencement of the new school year. The posting shall show the classifications vacant, the normal requirements for the job, the number of hours per week, the rate of pay and the location of the position. One electronic copy of the job posting shall be sent to the Bargaining Unit President and Branch presidents on the record, the day it is posted.
 - L14.02 a) Temporary vacancies not expected to last more than three (3) months may be filled at the discretion of the Board subject to the provisions of Article L11.09.
 - b) One subsequent vacancy created as a result of filling a posting of a temporary vacancy expected to last more than 3 months will be posted. Any subsequent vacancies will be filled at the discretion of the Board.
- Applicants for a posted position shall apply in writing to the Board or as otherwise directed in the posting. The Board will consider the skill, ability, qualifications and training of the applicants in question to perform the required work.

 Where these are relatively equal in the judgement of the Board, the employee with the most seniority shall be selected.
- a) The Board shall, prior to hiring, provide the Bargaining Unit President the names of all the bargaining unit members who were shortlisted for an interview to each bargaining unit job posting.

- b) The Board shall within five (5) working days notify the Bargaining Unit President and the Branch president of the name, position, title, and seniority of the successful applicant of the posted position.
- L14.05 The Board shall transfer the successful applicant to the new position within thirty (30) calendar days of the final selection unless the posting specifies a later start date or there is mutual agreement between the Bargaining Unit President and the Board.
- Where a temporary employee is hired for the permanent position, for which the employee was hired as a temporary employee, seniority and grid movement shall date from the beginning of the employment provided there is no break in service.
- L14.07 Internal job postings shall be open to permanent employees, probationary employees, and members on the recall list only.
- An educational assistant who posts into a temporary assignment may only apply to another temporary assignment that commences after the termination date of the current temporary assignment.
- L14.09 A permanent member who posts into a temporary position will be deemed to be on a Leave of Absence from their permanent position. Upon completion of the temporary assignment, the member will revert back to their permanent position.
 - L14.10 A permanent employee who posts into a permanent position of another job class shall be paid at the same step on the appropriate salary grid for the new job class.

L15.0 TRANSFERS

L15.01 Two employees who wish to exchange positions may apply for a mutual transfer provided each employee is fully qualified to perform the other's job. The employees must make written application and the Board shall advise the employees within ten

- (10) working days of whether the application has been approved or denied. The Board's approval shall not be unreasonably withheld but shall be subject to the staffing requirements of the schools involved.
- No employee will be transferred without the employee's consent other than in accordance with the layoff /recall provisions of this Collective Agreement.

L16.0 HOURS OF WORK

- Subject to paragraph L16.01 (b), the normal hours of work for all full-time employees shall be seven (7) consecutive hours, exclusive of the lunch break, per day for a total of thirty-five (35) hours per week. The hours of work for part-time and full-time employees will be consecutive exclusive of the lunch break. This shall include all Professional Development Days. Part-time employees in schools not on a balanced day schedule will be scheduled either in the morning or in the afternoon unless the employee agrees otherwise.
 - b) The normal hours of work for full-time Attendance Counsellors and Educational Assistants shall be six and one half (6.5) consecutive hours, exclusive of the lunch break, per day for a total of thirty-two and a half (32.5) hours per week.
 - c) Where part-time employees have been approved to participate in Board scheduled Professional Activity days or Board approved workshops or conferences that extend beyond the employees' normal hours of work, they will be paid as a F.T.E. of 1.0 for the day.
- Authorized work performed by an employee in excess of thirty-five (35) hours in a week shall be paid at time and one-half the employee's regular straight time hourly rate. Authorized work performed on a Sunday shall be paid at double the employee's regular straight time hourly rate. The employee may elect to receive, in lieu of overtime pay, time off to be taken at a time agreed upon by the employee and his/her Supervisor.

- b) Where Educational Assistants, Attendance Counsellors, Child and Youth Workers and Designated Early Childhood Educators are required by their Principal to attend events such as concerts, meetings, Open House or Parent's Night, they shall be paid their normal hourly rate. If through attendance at such events the employees' hours of work exceed thirty-five (35) in a week, Article L16.02(a) shall apply.
- c) Designated Early Childhood Educators who work prior to the commencement of the school year or following the end of school, as required by the Principal, shall be paid their normal hourly rate. If through attendance at such times, the employees' hours of work exceed thirty-five (35) in a week, Article L16.02 (a) shall apply.
- L16.03 a) The Board will consult with the Bargaining Unit when scheduling professional development activities for employees in the Bargaining Unit. Where employees must travel to or from professional development activities outside their normal hours of work such travel time shall be considered work time.
 - b) Each employee shall receive a minimum of 0.5 release from their instructional day to travel to professional development activities that require travel in excess of 400 kms round trip. Overnight accommodations and meal expenses will be reimbursed by the Board for employees who are required to travel in excess of 400 kms round trip for professional development.
 - c) Between November 1st and March 31st each employee shall receive a minimum of 0.5 release from their instructional day to travel to professional development activities that require travel in excess of 300 kms round trip. Overnight accommodations and meal expenses will be reimbursed by the Board for employees who are required to travel in excess of 300 kms round trip for professional development.
- The Attendance Counsellors, Educational Assistants, Designated Early Childhood Educators and Child and Youth Workers are twelve (12) month employees. The normal work year for Attendance Counsellors, Educational Assistants, Child and Youth Workers and Designated Early Childhood Educators consists of the school year as defined under the Education Act. This article shall constitute proper notice of the layoff at the end of the school year.

The Board shall provide fifteen (15) minute paid rest periods in the morning and in the afternoon for all employees. The breaks will be scheduled as close as is practicable to the mid point of each (1/2) half day. Employees may take their breaks away from their workstation. In schools operating on the balanced school day schedule, the afternoon break may be scheduled by the Principal to attach to the employee's lunch period with the consent of the employee.

L17.0 VACATIONS

New employees with the Board will accrue vacation entitlement at the rate of one (1) day per month worked in the year of hire, to a maximum of ten (10) days. Employees on the active payroll of the Board who will have completed the years of service specified within the calendar year shall be granted vacation with pay as of January 1st in accordance with the following (pro-rated for the part-time employee):

1 year of service: 2 weeks 3 years of service: 3 weeks 8 years of service: 4 weeks 12 years of service: 5 weeks 15 years of service: 6 weeks

Effective January 1, 2008 after 20 years: 6 weeks plus one (1) day per year in excess of twenty (20) years to a maximum of five (5) days.

Vacation shall be scheduled by the Board after considering requests from employees provided the requests are submitted no later than May 1st. One week of vacation may be taken during the calendar year with the approval of the employee's supervisor. All other vacation must be taken during the Christmas, March and/or summer breaks.

L18.0 PAID HOLIDAYS

L18.01 Subject to the provisions of this article, employees shall receive pay for the following holidays:

New Year's Day Labour Day

Good Friday Thanksgiving Day
Easter Monday Christmas Eve Day
Victoria Day Christmas Day
Canada Day Boxing Day

Civic Holiday New Year's Eve Day

Family Day

a) In lieu of Remembrance Day, one (1) floating holiday each school year will be scheduled at a mutually agreeable time with the approval of the Principal or immediate Supervisor. It is agreed that the scheduling of such day shall not incur any replacement cost to the Board.

- b) Holiday pay will be computed, at the employee's regular rate of pay, on the basis of the number of hours the employee would otherwise have worked had there been no holiday.
- In order to qualify for holiday pay, the employee must work the full scheduled hours of work on the work day immediately before the holiday and the full scheduled hours of work immediately following the holiday unless absent for reasons satisfactory to the Board.
- An employee authorized to work on any of the above holidays shall be paid at the rate of two times the employee's regular rate for all hours worked in addition to any holiday pay to which the employee is entitled.

19.0 EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL

L19.01 The Board will consult with the Union and allow it an opportunity to provide input prior to making any material amendments to the Procedure.

L19.02 An employee will be notified in writing at the start of the school year in which a performance appraisal report will be completed for that employee. L19.03 a) In the school year in which the employee is to be appraised, supervisors shall communicate with the employee to review the procedure and outline performance expectations. Employees shall be granted a meeting to review the procedure and performance expectations, if one is requested. Such meetings shall occur before September 30th. b) An Interim Probationary Appraisal Report shall be completed no later than 60 days of active employment, with a final report prior to the end of the probationary period. L19.04 The employee shall be given an opportunity to initial or sign the report and add comments if the employee desires. The employee's initials or signature only indicate that the employee has read the report. L19.05 An employee shall have the right to OSSTF representation at the meeting held to discuss the report. L19.06 A report, which alleges that the employee's performance is unsatisfactory, shall outline the reasons and specific recommendations for improvements necessary to achieve a satisfactory outcome. L19.07 An employee in receipt of an unsatisfactory performance appraisal report shall be provided a reasonable time for improvement prior to a subsequent appraisal. L19.08 Bargaining Unit Members shall not make or provide input into the performance appraisal of other Bargaining Unit Members.

L19.09

Any disciplinary action resulting from a performance appraisal may be the subject of a grievance. Where such a grievance is filed, the entire appraisal process may be challenged notwithstanding the time limits in Article L21 - Grievance/Arbitration Procedure.

L20.0 DISCIPLINE & DISCHARGE

L20.01 No employees shall be disciplined, or discharged without just cause.

Notwithstanding, the parties recognize the discipline, or discharge of a probationary employee shall be subject to a lesser standard of just cause.

L20.02 Employees shall be notified in writing of the grounds for discipline or discharge.

The employee has the right to reply to such a report and that reply shall

become part of the employee's personnel file.

L21.0 GRIEVANCE / ARBITRATION PROCEDURE

L21.01 Definition:

- a) A "grievance" shall be defined as any dispute involving the application, administration, interpretation or alleged violation of this Collective Agreement, between the employee, group of employees or OSSTF and the Board.
- b) A "party" shall be defined as:
 - i. OSSTF
 - ii. the Board
- c) "Days" shall mean school days unless otherwise indicated.
- d) The "grievor" shall be defined as the party initiating the grievance.

L21.02 Informal Stage:

The employee, or group of employees must attempt to resolve a grievance by informal discussion with the Principal or immediate supervisor prior to initiating the formal grievance. The employee may be accompanied by an OSSTF representative at the employee's request.

L21.03 Formal Stage:

Step 1

- a) Where OSSTF decides to proceed with a grievance, it shall commit the grievance to writing, setting out the facts of the grievance together with the provisions of the Agreement claimed to have been violated and indicating the relief sought and shall deliver the same to the Principal or Supervisor within twenty (20) days from the time of the occurrence of the circumstances giving rise to the grievance or when the employee ought reasonably to have become aware of the circumstances giving rise to the grievance under this Collective Agreement.
- b) The Principal or immediate supervisor or designate, shall meet with the grievor(s) and the designate OSSTF representative(s) within ten (10) days from the receipt of the grievance. The Principal or immediate supervisor or designate shall forward the written decision to OSSTF within five (5) days of such meeting.

Step 2

- a) Failing settlement at Step 1, OSSTF may submit the grievance, in writing, to the Director or designate within five (5) days of receiving the decision at Step 1.
- b) The Director or designate shall meet with the designated OSSTF representative(s) within ten (10) days from the receipt of the grievance. The grievor(s) may attend such meeting at the request of the OSSTF representative(s). The Director or designate shall forward a written decision to OSSTF within five (5) days of such meeting.

Step 3

If no settlement is reached, OSSTF may submit the grievance to arbitration within twenty (20) days of receipt of the response as follows:

- a) <u>Arbitration</u>: When either party requests that a grievance be submitted to a single arbitrator, the request shall be conveyed in writing to the other party to the agreement, indicating the name of the arbitrator. Within five (5) days thereafter, the other party shall respond in writing indicating their agreement to the arbitrator or suggesting another name. If the parties fail to agree upon an arbitrator, the appointment shall be made by the Minister of Labour of Ontario upon the request of either party.
- b) <u>Decision of the Arbitrator</u>: An arbitrator shall give a decision within thirty (30) calendar days, or as soon as possible after the hearing on the matters submitted to arbitration is concluded. The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding upon the parties and upon any employee(s) affected by it.
- c) A grievance relating to the dismissal or discharge of an employee may be filed at Step 2.
- d) <u>Powers of the Arbitrator</u>: An arbitrator has the powers of an arbitrator or Arbitration Board under the *Labour Relations Act*.
- e) <u>Expenses of the Arbitration</u>. Both parties agree to pay one-half (50%) of the fees and expenses of the single arbitrator.
- f) Policy Grievance: OSSTF and the Board shall have the right to file a grievance based on a dispute arising out of the application, administration, interpretation or alleged violation of this Collective Agreement. A policy grievance shall not be filed where the subject matter of the grievance could have been filed as an individual grievance. Such policy grievance shall be presented at Step 2 to OSSTF or the Director of Education and must be filed within twenty (20) days of the occurrence of the circumstances giving rise to the grievance or when OSSTF or the Board ought reasonably to have become aware of the circumstances giving rise to the grievance under this Collective Agreement.

g) <u>Grievance Mediation</u>:

a) At any stage of the grievance procedure, the parties by mutual

consent in writing may elect to resolve the grievance by using grievance mediation. The parties shall agree on the individual to be the mediator and the time frame in which a resolution is to be reached.

b) The time lines outlined in the grievance procedure shall be frozen at the time the parties mutually agreed in writing to use the grievance mediation procedure. Upon written notification of either party to the other party indicating the grievance mediation is terminated, the time lines in the grievance procedure shall continue from the point at which they were frozen.

h) Other:

- a) All time limits herein for the grievance and arbitration procedure are mandatory and may be extended only upon written consent of the parties.
 - b) If the grievor or OSSTF fails to act within the time limits set out at any of the stages or steps of the grievance or arbitration procedure, the grievance will be considered abandoned. If the Board or its representatives fails to reply to a grievance within the time limits set out at any of the stages or steps of the grievance or arbitration procedure, OSSTF may submit the grievance to the next step of the procedure.
 - c) One or more steps in the grievance procedure may be omitted upon the written consent of the parties.
 - d) Receipt of notification shall be deemed to be the date of delivery of a registered letter or the date of personal delivery to the party concerned.
 - e) There shall be no reprisals of any kind taken against any employee because of the employee's participation in grievance or arbitration procedure under this Agreement.

L22.0 HEALTH AND SAFETY

- L22.01 Health and Safety shall be governed by applicable provisions of the *Occupational Health and Safety Act.*
- L22.02 a) The Board shall provide all personal protective equipment, protective clothing or devices required by law.
 - b) Employees who are required by the Board to wear protective footwear during the course of their duties shall be reimbursed by the Board up to an annual maximum of \$120.00 upon presentation of a receipt for the purchase of C.S.A. approved footwear.
 - L22.03 The Board shall provide employees, including temporary and casual employees, with the appropriate health and safety training as required. Training requirements will be established by the Board with input from the Bargaining Unit. Such training shall be conducted during regular working hours.
 - L22.04 Employees shall not be required to administer medication by injection, catheterize, suction, tube feed students nor perform any other intrusive health care procedures as delineated in Ontario Policy/Program Memorandum #81.
- L22.05 Training required by the *Occupational Health and Safety Act* shall be provided at the Board's expense to members of the Joint Health and Safety Committee. A member of the Bargaining Unit shall participate in the Joint Health and Safety Committee.

L23.0 DISCRIMINATION / HARASSMENT

L23.01 The parties agree to comply with their obligations under the *Ontario Human Rights Code*. Accordingly, the parties agree that there shall be no discrimination against members because of race, place of origin, colour, ethnic origin, citizenship, creed, sex, sexual orientation, age, record of offences, marital status, same sex partnership

status, family status or disability as defined and provided in the Code. The parties further agree that there shall be no discrimination against members because of participation or non-participation in lawful union activities.

L23.02 The Board and the Union recognize the right of all Bargaining Unit members to work in a harassment free environment.

L24.0 CRIMINAL RECORDS CHECK

L24.01 Access to and the use and disclosure of records and information (including offence declarations and the CPIC records) obtained pursuant to Regulation 521/01 of the Education Act shall be consistent with the provisions of the Municipal Freedom of Information and protection of Privacy Act.

L25.0 EMPLOYEES WITH DISABILITES

L25.01 The Board and the Union recognize their shared obligation under the Ontario Human Rights Code with respect to the accommodation of employees with disabilities.

L26.0 MODIFIED WORK POLICY

- L26.01 Prior to introducing a Modified Work Policy applicable to the employees in the Bargaining Unit, the Board will provide the Union with a reasonable opportunity to provide input into the Policy.
- The Board and the Union recognize their mutual obligations under the *Human Rights Code* and the *Workplace Safety and Insurance Act* to take reasonable steps to attempt to accommodate employees who, because of a disability, are unable to perform the normal requirements of the job.

Where appropriate medical documentation requires the temporary accommodation to include a shortened workday, the employee may be able to access sick leave credits, if available, to avoid a reduction in salary.

Employees are entitled to Federation representation at all meetings related to

such accommodations. Should the employee wish to exercise this right, the Bargaining Unit President will be informed of the date and time of the meeting and will attend or will appoint a designate to attend. Such representation will be secured within two (2) working days.

For WSIB matters, the accommodation meeting will take place as soon as possible and suitable modified work may be offered. If, due to the need to hold the WSIB meeting as soon as possible, Federation representation could not be secured for the meeting, the employee may request a follow-up meeting during which Federation representation will be present. Such representation will be secured within two (2) working days.

L26.03 Once a Policy is in place, the Board will consult with the Union prior to making any material amendments to the Policy.

L27.0 SICK LEAVE

- L27.01 By October 30th of each year, each employee on staff shall be provided with a statement of the number of unused sick leave days accumulated to August 31st of the prior school year.
- L27.02 Every period of absence is to be reported by all personnel by notifying the person designated by the Board as soon as possible.
- The Board may require an employee to submit a certificate from a qualified medical or Dental practitioner, for absences of five (5) consecutive work days or more due to sickness, physical and/or mental disability. The Board shall reimburse the employee for the cost if any, charged by the practitioner for the certificate.
- L27.04 For absences greater than ten (10) or more consecutive work days, due to sickness, physical and/or mental disability, the Board may require an employee to provide medical documentation satisfactory to the Board. Any costs incurred in obtaining the medical reports or for the appointment will be paid by the Board.

- a) Should an employee totally exhaust all sick leave credits and be unable to return to work, the Board shall grant the employee a leave of absence without pay for the remainder of the school year. The Board may grant further leaves of absence of up to one school year at a time upon a review of the employee's condition and prognosis. The Board may require an employee to provide medical documentation satisfactory to the Board. Any costs incurred in obtaining the medical reports or for the appointment will be paid by the Board.
 - b) Should the parties agree that an independent medical examination is required, the member shall receive a copy of the IME report.
- L27.06 Prior to introducing an Attendance Management Policy applicable to employees in the Bargaining Unit, the Board will provide the Union with a reasonable opportunity to provide input into the policy.

L27.07 Retirement Gratuity

Retirement Gratuities were frozen as of August 31st, 2012. An Employee is not eligible to receive a sick leave credit gratuity or any non-sick leave credit retirement gratuity (such as, but not limited to, service gratuities or RRSP contributions) after August 31st, 2012, except a sick leave credit gratuity that the Employee had accumulated and was eligible to receive as of that day.

The following language applies only to those employees eligible for the gratuity above:

L27.07.01 Upon retiring to a bona fide OMERS pension from employment with the Superior-Greenstone District School Board (or in the case of an employee not participating in the OMERS plan providing they meet the OMERS criteria for eligibility), subsequent to five (5) years continuous service with the Board, the employee shall receive a retirement gratuity, providing one year's notice is given of the intent to retire. Where such notice is not given the Board may withhold payment until the following budget year.

L27.07.02 When an employee becomes entitled to receive a gratuity under this Article, the Board shall so inform that employee in a letter of the form attached as Schedule "B" to this Agreement. The Board shall allow the employee at least thirty (30) days after receipt of such notice to provide written instructions as to the method of payment. If no instructions are received, the payment will be made either by cheque or directly to the Employee's account.

L27.07.03 This retirement gratuity is:

- a) calculated at the rate of 6% f accumulated sick leave (to a maximum of 250 days) after the first five (5) years;
- b) increased by 2%per year thereafter to a maximum 50%.
- c) calculated on the employee's daily rate of pay which is determined by multiplying the employee's normal daily hours of work by the employee's regular straight time hourly rate.

In the event of the death of an employee while employed by the Board, any retirement gratuity payable will be paid to the employee's estate or assigned beneficiary.

Any employee accepting this gratuity forfeits all accumulated sick leave credits in the employee's account.

L28.0 GROUP LIFE AND BENEFIT PLANS

- a) The Board shall contribute 100% toward the premium costs for the benefits listed below with the exception of the LTD Benefit. Employees shall pay the remaining premium costs through payroll deduction. Employees shall pay 100% of the premium costs for LTD.
 - 1. Life insurance for all employees equal to \$150,000.
 - Dependent Life Insurance:
 - a) Spouse-\$20,000

- b) Each Child- \$10,000
- 3. Long Term Disability Insurance with a ninety (90) day waiting period.
- 4. Accidental Death and Dismemberment equal to \$150,000.
- 5. Medical Insurance (\$5.00 deductible per prescription), excess Doctors' fees, private hospital accommodation where available, vision care, etc.

Laser Eye Surgery: \$500.00

Vision Care Maximum: \$400.00 per twelve (12) months inclusive of the cost of the annual eye examination.

Hearing Aids: \$2,000/5 years

Physiotherapy and Massage Therapy combined maximum of \$1,000 per calendar year. \$40.00 maximum per visit.

Effective September 1,2007:

Chiropractic fees reimbursement up to \$15.00 per visit to a maximum of 20 visits per year

- 6. Dental Benefit Plan (current ODA fee schedule)
- 7. The Board shall cover the cost of the Hepatitis B vaccinations for all employees.
- 8. Employees receiving Long Term Disability Benefits shall have their Extended Health Care and Dental Benefits covered 100% by the Board.
- (1, 3 and 4 above are conditions of employment)
- b) The Board reserves the right to negotiate with an insurer of its own choice. No

change in the Master Plan will take place without prior discussion with the Local Affiliate. The benefit plans are not part of this Collective Agreement. The Board's sole obligation shall be to make a contribution towards the premium costs of the benefits.

- c) Any changes to this benefit package caused by negotiation of this agreement will become effective the first day of the month following the date of signing this Collective Agreement.
- d) In view of the Board's contribution to the above benefit plan, the employees" share of the E.I. rebate shall be retained by the Board.
- e) All employees will be covered by the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System in accordance with the terms of that plan.
- f) All members retiring after date of ratification will have the option to continue in the Board's Extended Health and Dental Insurance plans. The participant is responsible for 100% of the premium costs for these plans. Payments are to be made in two instalments on September 1st and March 1st. The onus is upon the participant to ensure the Board receives payment on time. Failure to meet the above deadlines will result in automatic cancellation of the benefits. The Board will send notice of the required premium thirty (30) days prior to the due date to the address of last record. The coverage is non-transferable upon death of the retired member and will not be extended beyond the month the member turns 65 years of age.

L29.0 LEAVES OF ABSENCE

L29.01 Leave of Absence Without Pay

A leave of absence without salary and benefits or sick leave credits, may be granted by the Board for up to one (1) year upon the recommendation of the Director of Education. The employee will be returned to the former position that was held by the employee before the leave was granted subject to the layoff/recall provisions of this agreement.

a) Employees may return to work prior to the end of the granted leaves provided they inform the Board, in writing, giving at least one (1) months' notice of their intent to return.

L29.02 a) Bereavement Leave

For the death in the immediate family, the employee is permitted to be absent without loss of salary, sick leave credits, benefits, seniority or experience for a period of up to, but not exceeding five (5) days. When used herein, immediate family includes: father, mother, father-in-law, mother-in-law, spouse (spouse shall include common-law and same sex partners), son, daughter, sister, brother, grandparents, grandchildren, legal guardian, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, son-in-law and daughter-in-law. The first such day is to be within two days of the death.

b) For attendance at a Memorial Service that may be held at a later date for a death in a family, as defined in Article L29.02 (a), the employee may elect to use all or part of the five (5) bereavement days from Article L29.02(a) - Bereavement Leave to attend the service without loss of salary, sick leave credits, benefits, seniority, or experience.

L29.03 <u>Special Compassionate</u>

Special compassionate leave of up to five (5) days in any school year without loss of salary, sick leave credits, benefits, seniority or experience may be granted at the discretion of the Principal, immediate supervisor, Coordinator of Human Resources or designate. Reasons for such leave may include, but not limited to, illness in the immediate family, attending a funeral/memorial service of a close friend or other family member not identified in L29.02, absence for the purpose of seeking medical attention for dependants, or arrival home of a newborn or adoptive child.

L29.04 Family Medical Leave

Family Medical Leave shall be in accordance with the *Employment Standards Act* as amended from time to time.

L29.05 <u>School Business</u>

Absence without loss of salary, sick leave credits, benefits, seniority or experience shall be granted an employee while on approved school business.

L29.06 <u>Medical Quarantine</u>

Absence without loss of salary, sick leave credits, benefits, seniority or experience shall be granted an employee for a period of quarantine, when declared by the Medical Officer of Health or designate.

L29.07 <u>Jury/Witness Duty</u>

Absence without loss of salary, sick leave credits, benefits, seniority or experience shall be granted an employee for jury duty, or when a subpoena is issued by court order to an employee who is not a party to a court charge.

L29.08 Federation Business

Absence without loss of salary, sick leave credits, benefits, seniority, experience and all other rights and privileges under this Collective Agreement shall be granted according to the following:

a) At the request of the Bargaining Unit Executive, the Principal, Coordinator of Human Resources or designate shall grant a member a leave of absence to permit attendance at OSSTF workshops and meetings. Leave of absence granted under this section will not exceed, twenty- five (25) days during the school year.

- b) At the request of the Branch President, the Principal, Coordinator of Human Resources or designate shall grant the Branch President and/or designate a leave of absence to attend to federation/school business matters which occur during the regular school hours. Leave of absence granted under this section will not exceed, in the aggregate, ten (10) days during the school year, per community.
- c) Members of the Union's negotiating committee shall be granted a leave of absence to attend negotiations for the renewal of this Collective Agreement.
- d) The OSSTF shall reimburse the Board for any replacement costs incurred by the Board in granting the leaves described in paragraphs (a) through (c).
- e) Members who serve as Federation representatives on Employer-Employee committees which are convened during work hours.

L29.08.01 Bargaining Unit President Leave

- a) At the request of the Bargaining Unit President, the Director shall grant the Bargaining Unit President a leave of absence for up to two (2) school years. The Bargaining Unit shall inform the Board no later than June 30th as to the F.T.E. portion of the President's leave of absence to be taken in the following school year.
- b) During Bargaining Unit President Leave, the Bargaining Unit President shall not suffer a loss of salary, sick leave credits, benefits, seniority, experience or any other rights and privileges under this Collective Agreement. Notwithstanding this, during the Bargaining Unit President Leave, the Bargaining Unit President is not entitled to vacation, sick leave under Article L27 or Leaves of Absence under Articles L29.01 to L29.07, L29.09 and L29.11.
- c) Notwithstanding the consecutive day requirement set out in L2.02.01, for the purposes of replacing the Bargaining Unit President while on leave, the leave shall be considered a temporary job vacancy for the duration of the school year. The job shall be posted for the beginning of each school year. In addition to the provisions of the Collective Agreement applicable to all temporary employees pursuant to

Article L2.02.01, the incumbent will accrue seniority exclusively for the purpose of applying for permanent vacancies with the Board.

L29.08.2 For the Bargaining Unit President Leave, the OSSTF shall reimburse the Board for the cost of salary, statutory and negotiated benefits of the Bargaining Unit President on the lowest grid step in the Bargaining Unit, equivalent to the FTE portion of the President's leave, during the period of the Bargaining Unit President's approved leave.

L29.09 Personal Leave Days

Each employee shall be allowed up to three (3) personal leave days each school year. The days are to be taken with the approval of the Principal or immediate supervisor.

L29.10 <u>Adverse Weather Conditions</u>

- L29.10.01 Under adverse weather conditions, an employee shall make an individual decision on the matter of whether it is safe to travel to work.
- Where a personal decision is made to remain at home, an employee shall report this decision to the Principal or immediate supervisor immediately and provide reason(s) thereof. In this case, the employee will be granted a leave of absence without pay or may use a vacation day (which shall not count toward the limit under L16.02) or personal day if one is available.
- L29.10.03 An employee reporting for a regular shift and sent home by the Principal or immediate supervisor due to an emergency or act of God shall not suffer a loss of salary, benefits, or seniority.
- L29.10.04 Where a member is prevented from travelling from his/her principal residence to his/her school by a road closure, the member shall suffer no loss of salary, benefits, experience or sick leave.

L29.11 <u>Pregnancy and Parental Leave</u>

- L29.11.01 Pregnancy and Parental Leaves shall be in accordance with the *Employment Standards Act.*
- L29.11.02 Upon application from an employee on Pregnancy or Parental Leave, the Board may grant an extension to the leave of up to two (2) years. The return date shall be clearly stated prior to the commencement of the leave.
- L29.11.03 The employee shall be eligible to remain in the Benefits Group. For the period of the leave in excess of the statutory leave, the employee shall pay 100 % of the premium costs and shall not accumulated sick leave credits.

L29.12 Pregnancy Leave Benefits

Definitions

- a) "casual employee" means,
 - i. a casual employee within the meaning of the local collective agreement,
 - ii. if clause (i) does not apply, an employee who is a casual employee as agreed upon by the board and the bargaining agent, or
 - iii. if clauses (i) and (ii) do not apply, an employee who is not regularly scheduled to work
- b) "term assignment" means, in relation to an employee,
 - i. a term assignment within the meaning of the local collective agreement, or
 - ii. where no such definition exists, a term assignment will be defined as twelve (12) days of continuous employment in one assignment

Common Central Provisions

- a) The Employer shall provide for permanent employees and employees in term assignments who access such leaves, a SEB plan to top up their E.I. Benefits. An employee who is eligible for such leave shall receive salary for a period immediately following the birth of her child, but with no deduction from sick leave or the Short Term Disability Program (STLDP). The SEB Plan pay will be the difference between the gross amount the employee receives from E.I. and her regular gross pay.
- b) SEB payments are available only to supplement E.I. benefits during the absence period as specified in this plan.
- c) Employees in term assignments shall be entitled to the benefits outlined in a) above, with the length of the SEB benefit limited by the term of the assignment.
- d) Casual employees are not entitled to pregnancy leave benefits.
- e) The employee must provide the Board with proof that she has applied for and is in receipt of employment insurance benefits in accordance with the *Employment Insurance Act*, as amended, before SEB is payable.
- f) Permanent employees and employees in term assignments not eligible for employment insurance benefits or the SEB plan will receive 100% of salary from the employer for the total of not less than eight (8) weeks with no deduction from sick leave or STLDP.
- g) Where any part of the eight (8) weeks falls during the period of time that is not paid (i.e. summer, March Break, etc.), the remainder of the eight (8) weeks of top up shall be payable after that period of time.
- h) Permanent employees and employees in term assignments who require longer than the eight (8) week recuperation period shall have access to sick leave and

the STLDP subject to meeting the requirements to provide acceptable medical verification.

- i) If an employee begins pregnancy leave while on approved leave from the employer, the above maternity benefits provisions apply.
- j) The start date for the payment of the pregnancy benefits shall be the earlier of the due date or the birth of the child.
- k) Births that occur during an unpaid period (i.e. summer, March break, etc.) shall still trigger the pregnancy benefits. In those cases, the pregnancy benefits shall commence on the first day after the unpaid period.
- I) A SEB plan to top up their E.I Benefits for eight (8) weeks of 100% salary is the minimum for all eligible employees. An employee who is eligible for such leave shall receive 100% salary for a period not to exceed eight (8) weeks immediately following the birth of her child but with no deduction from sick leave or the Short Term Leave Disability Program (STLDP). The SEB Plan pay will be the difference between the gross amount the employee receives from E.I. and their regular gross pay.

L30.0 WORKPLACE SAFETY INSURANCE BENEFITS (WSIB) TOP UP BENEFITS

- Where an employee is receiving WSIB, that employee is entitled to receive WSIB top-up to 100% of their salary for a maximum of four (4) years and six (6) months without deduction from sick leave.
- An employee who was receiving WSIB top-up on September 1, 2012 shall have the cap of four (4) years and six (6) months reduced by the length of time for which the employee received WSIB top-up prior to September 1, 2012.

L31.0 WORK OF THE BARGAINING UNIT

- No employee shall be laid off, suffer a reduction in the employee's regularly scheduled hours, or be refused recall as a direct result of contracting out, the placement in the workplace of co-op students, tutors, volunteers, participants in government funded work programs, or due to teachers being assigned work normally performed by members of the Bargaining Unit.
- L31.02 The Board acknowledges the benefit to our schools in maintaining the staffing model in place at the time of ratification. The Union acknowledges that the Board is subject to a variety of factors such as the funding formula and changes within the communities it serves.

 Consequently, the Board agrees that, prior to implementing any changes to the current staffing model, it will meet with the Union to discuss any such proposed changes and the reasons therefore. The Board shall offer the Union an opportunity for input with respect to these changes and how any negative impact can be

L32.0 MILEAGE

L32.01 An employee required to use the employee's vehicle for Board business shall be reimbursed at the regular Board rate.

L33.0 TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE

minimized or avoided.

- L33.01 If as a result of the introduction or operation of new equipment or changes in operating methods, a classification (job) will be discontinued and/or members of the Union will be displaced, the Board will inform the Union, not less than thirty (30) days in advance of such changes, and will discuss with the Union prior to the inception of such changes, means by which existing employees of the Union may qualify for positions created by such changes.
- L33.02 In the event of the installation of new equipment that may affect the job status of employee(s) in the Union, the Board will, as far in advance as possible before the installation of such equipment, meet with the Union, provide them with information regarding the new equipment, and advise them of the number and

classification of employees likely to be affected by such installation. The parties will discuss the feasibility of providing training on such new equipment to employees affected by such changes with the intent that the Board will give first consideration to present employees for such newly created positions.

L34.0 STAFF/BOARD LIAISON

- L34.01 A Staff/Board Liaison Committee shall be struck consisting of up to three (3) members of the Bargaining Unit and to three (3) Board Representatives.
- L34.02 The purpose of this committee shall be to foster better understanding between the parties.
- L34.03 On request of either party, the committee shall meet. The parties agree that the committee shall meet at least once each school year.
- L34.04 The Committee will meet to review projected funding and staffing information for the following school year. The committee will address reasons for any staffing reductions in the Bargaining Unit no later than June 30th of the school year and will consider solutions to these reductions as set out in Article L10.01.
- L34.05 No member of the committee will suffer a loss of salary as a result of attending a committee meeting.

L35.0 EMPLOYEE FUNDED LEAVE

L35.01 Preamble

The Superior-Greenstone District School Board and OSSTF assume no responsibility for any consequences arising out of this plan related to effects on employees" OMERS provisions, income tax arrangements, Employment Insurance, the Canada Pension Plan or any other liabilities incurred by an employee as a result of participation in this plan.

L35.02 Description

L35.02.01 This Employee-funded leave plan is developed to afford employees the opportunity of taking a leave of absence through deferral of salary to finance the leave.

L35.03 Application

- L35.03.01 An Employee must make written application to the Director of Education on or before January 31st requesting permission to participate in the plan commencing in September of the same Calendar Year.
- L35.03.02 Written acceptance, or refusal, of the employee's request, with explanations, will be forwarded to the employee by April 1st in the school year in which the request is made.
- L35.03.03 Approval of individual requests to participate in the plan shall rest solely with the Board.

L35.04 Pay Deduction Formula and Leave of Absence

- L35.04.01 In each year of the plan preceding the year of leave an employee will be paid a reduced per centum of the employee's proper grid salary and applicable allowances. The remaining per centum of annual salary will be deferred and this accumulated amount, shall be retained for the Employee by the Board in a True Savings Account at the Board's Bank. Interest earned on the True Savings Account will be paid out annually prior to December 31st.
 - a) OR, with the approval of the Board, an Employee may elect some alternate method of funding the leave.
 - b) Union dues and pension deductions will be at the direction of the appropriate agency.

- L35.04.02 While an employee is enrolled in the plan, and not on leave, any benefits tied to salary shall be structured according to the salary the employee would have received had the employee not been enrolled in the plan.
- L35.04.03 An employee's fringe benefits will be maintained by the Board during the leave of absence; however, the premium costs of all fringe benefits shall be entirely paid by the Employee during the year of absence at the Board's Group rates.
- While on leave, any benefits tied to salary level shall be structured according to the salary the employee would have received in the year prior to taking the leave had the employee not been enrolled in the plan, or according to the salary, the employee would receive in that year if the employee was not enrolled in the plan, at the option of the employee.
- L35.04.05 Where fringe benefits are not a condition of employment, a participant may choose to opt out in the year of the leave.
- L35.04.06 An employee may apply to take the leave in other than the fifth year of this plan, if mutually agreed to by the employee and the Board.

L35.05 Terms Reference

- On return from a leave an employee will be assigned to the same position that the employee held before the leave, unless the position no longer exists, in which case the employee will be governed by the appropriate terms of this Agreement.
- L35.05.02 Sick leave credits will not be accumulated during the year spent on leave.

L35.05.03	Employees declared redundant will not be eligible for this plan.
	a) An employee enrolled in this plan who has been declared redundant shall be paid any monies deferred plus interest accrued to the date of withdrawal from the plan in accordance with Article L35.05.04 below.
L35.05.04	Repayment shall be made as per Agreement between the employee and the Board.
L35.05.05	Pension deductions are to be continued as provided by the current ruling of the OMERS plan.
L35.05.06	An employee may withdraw from the plan at any time prior to March 1st of the calendar year in which the leave is to be taken. Any exceptions to the aforesaid shall be at the discretion of the Board. Repayment shall be as per Articles L35.05.03(a) and L35.05.04 above.
L35.05.07	Should an Employee die while participating in this plan, any monies accumulated, plus interest accrued at the time of death, will be paid to the employee's estate.
L35.05.08	All employees wishing to participate in the plan shall be required to sign an agreement supplied by the Board before final approval for participation will be granted.
L35.05.09	The year of leave shall not be recognized for salary calculation purposes.
L35.05.10	Seniority shall accumulate during the year of leave.
L35.05.11	The year of leave shall not be calculated in the determination of any retirement gratuity.

L36.0 MEDICATION and MEDICAL PROCEDURES

- L36.01 Notwithstanding the administering of oral medication outlined in Policy/Program Memorandum 81, no employee shall be required to perform any medical or physical procedure on any pupil.
- L36.02 The Board shall provide employees with training in order to ensure compliance with PPM81. The Board recognizes that it retains all legal responsibilities for the actions of employees who provide such a service.

L37.0 PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

- L37.01 The Board and the Bargaining Unit shall form a joint advisory committee on professional development. The goal of the committee is to ensure that professional development is reflective of the employees' need to further enhance professional practice.
- L37.02 The committee shall consist of an equal number of employees, as appointed by the Bargaining Unit President, and of Board representatives to a maximum of four (4) members in total.
 - L37.03 The committee shall meet a minimum of two (2) times per year.
 - A casual may attend on a voluntary basis and without pay, scheduled Professional Activity Days arranged by the Board. Request to attend shall be in writing to the Principal at least five (5) working days before the scheduled Professional Activity Day and may be granted at the discretion of the Board.

L38.0 DURATION and RENEWAL

L38.01 This Agreement shall be in effect from September 1, 2019 and shall continue in force up to and included August 31, 2022 and shall continue automatically thereafter for annual periods of one year unless either party notifies the other, in writing, within ninety (90) days prior to the expiration date that it desires to negotiate with a view to renewal, with

- or without modifications of this agreement, in accordance with the Ontario Labour Relations Act.
- L38.02 If either party gives notice of its desire to negotiate amendments in accordance with Article 38.01, the parties shall meet within fifteen (15) days from giving of notice to commence negotiations for the renewal of this Agreement, in accordance with the Ontario Labour Relations Act.
- L38.03 Except for error, inadvertence, or omissions, the Agreement shall form the basis for computing all salaries and other terms defined herein. Amendments (deletions or additions) to clauses defined herein shall be made only by mutual consent of the parties concerned in this Agreement and shall be subject to ratification by the parties

Dated this 1^{st} day of \underline{D} ecember, 2020 in the province of Ontario. For the Union

Sammy Roshwell Horrer

OSSTF EDUCATIONAL SUPPORT

APPENDIX I: PREGNANCY & PARENTAL LEAVE

For further details, <u>please</u> consult the Employment Standards Act and the Employment Standard Act and the Employment Insurance Act.

APPENDIX II: FAMILY MEDICAL LEAVE

For further details, <u>please</u> consult the Employment Standards Act and the Employment Standards Act and the Employment Insurance Act.

SCHEDULE A: SALARY SCHEDULE

OSSTF ESS Grid for September 1, 2019 1.00% **Accounts Payable** Clerk, Accounting Clerk, Payroll Educational Clerk, Secretary, Attendance Assistant, Child Computer Computer DECE Technologist Cousellors Library Technician Youth Worker Technician **YEARS** 4 5 21.44 22.467 30.78 0 21.304 21.653 21.927 1 22.347 22.739 22.971 23.592 23.08 31.58

24.068

25.219

26.425

23.877

25.070

26.327

81.07%

Casual Rate 17.27 Letters of Permission

24.773

26.011

27.313

19.78

32.37

33.17

33.17

24.72

26.37

28.02

OSSTF ESS Grid for September 1, 2020

2

3

23.443

24.597

25.801

1.00%

	YEARS	Attendance Cousellors	Library Technician	Educational Assistant, Child Youth Worker	Accounts Payable Clerk, Accounting Clerk, Payroll Clerk, Secretary, Computer Technician	DECE	Computer Technologist
		1	2	3	4	5	6
	0	21.517	21.870	22.146	22.692	21.65	31.09
	1	22.570	22.966	23.201	23.828	23.31	31.90
	2	23.677	24.116	24.309	25.021	24.97	32.69
	3	24.843	25.321	25.471	26.271	26.63	33.50
6	4	26.059	26.590	26.689	27.586	28.30	33.50

Casual Rate

81.07% 17.44

Letters of Permission

19.98

OSSTF	ESS	Grid	for	Sei	otember	1.	2021
						٠,	

1.00%

YEARS	Attendance Cousellors	Library Technician	Educational Assistant, Child Youth Worker	Accounts Payable Clerk, Accounting Clerk, Payroll Clerk, Secretary, Computer Technician	DECE	Computer Technologist
	1	2	3	4	5	6
0	21.732	22.089	22.367	22.919	21.87	31.40
1	22.796	23.196	23.433	24.066	23.54	32.22
2	23.914	24.357	24.552	25.271	25.22	33.02
3	25.091	25.574	25.726	26.534	26.90	33.84
6 4	26.320	26.856	26.956	27.862	28.58	33.84

Casual Rate

81.07% 17.62

Letters of Permission

20.18

Effective September 1, 2005 Educational Assistants and Attendance Counsellors, hired into permanent positions after August 20, 2005, who do not possess one of the Educational credentials listed in the respective Job Descriptions shall be paid at 95% of Step 0.

On the employee's anniversary date, the employee shall be paid at step 0 on the salary grid.

The Board shall inform the Bargaining Unit president when an Educational Assistant or Attendance Counsellor is hired without possessing one of the Educational credentials.

Where a permanent employee completes one of the Educational credentials identified during the first year of employment, the employee shall be paid at step 0 effective the date of completion. The employee must submit appropriate documentation to Human Resources.

SCHEDULE B: LETTER OF FORM

SUPERIOR-GREENSTONE DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

Letterhead						
Dear:						
School Board and the Or	Collective Agreement between the Superior-Greenstone District ntario Secondary School Teachers" Federation, Educational Support a Retirement Gratuity in the amount of \$					
	n instructions from you regarding the method of payment within eceipt of this Notice, this Gratuity will be paid directly to you, with the					
Income Tax:	\$					
Other:	\$					
•	ol Teachers" Federation, Education Support Staff advises that you seek ty is paid directly to you, as the above deductions can be avoided.					
Authorized Signature)						

SCHEDULE C: VOLUNTEER TOWNSHIP LIST

For the purposes of re-assignments, the Board has been divided by area into various townships:

- 1. Beardmore
- 2. Geraldton
- 3. Red Rock
- 4. Terrace Bay
- 5. Marathon
- 6. Manitouwadge
- 7. Longlac
- 8. Nakina
- 9. Schreiber
- 10. Nipigon
- 11. Dorion

Please indicate below any of the above townships which you agree to be re-assigned to for at least one day (normal work day)

Name Townships

School Township

Additional

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING – Sick Leave

Notwithstanding Article 27.0 (Sick Leave), employees who, as of the date of ratification, have accumulated more than two hundred fifty (250) sick leave days shall be allowed to retain their accumulated days. However, no more than 250 days may be used towards their retirement gratuity. Should those employees' accumulated total decrease through use to less than two hundred fifty (250) days, then they will be governed by the Collective Agreement provisions for accumulation thereafter.

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING –

Workplace Violence and Harassment Management Guideline

The Board and Union recognize the Workplace Violence and Harassment Management Guideline in place effective the date of September 1, 2012.

The Board will consult with the Union prior to making any material amendments to the Guideline.

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING –

Child and Youth Workers

The parties acknowledge that there was an error in the Life Insurance and Accidental Death and Dismemberment amount in the Letter of Understanding and that the correct amount is \$150,000.

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING -

Pay Equity Maintenance

The Board and Union agree upon the importance of pay equity maintenance.

The parties agree to strike a joint committee for the maintenance of the pay equity plan.

The first meeting of the joint committee shall take place by November 30, 2016. Any extension to this timeline shall only be by mutual agreement.

Subsequent meetings shall be held annually thereafter for the purposes of initiating the maintenance of the pay equity process.

An amended plan shall be posted as required or a letter of agreement shall be signed by the parties each year to confirm the review has taken place.

LETTER OF INTENT –

ATTENDANCE SUPPORT

The parties agree that prior to the implementation of any attendance support program that is to be applied to members of the bargaining unit, the Board will meet with the Union to provide opportunities for the union to comment upon the creation of the program.

LETTER OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN:

THE SG DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD (the "Board")

AND ESS BARGAINING UNIT OSSTF DISTRICT 68 -(the "Federation")

RE: Supplemental Employment Benefit (SEB) Plan Benefit and Employment Insurance (EI) Benefits

The Parties agree to modify the SEB Plan outlined in Article L29.12 in a cost neutral manner reflective of the legislative changes to the *Employment Insurance Act* which came into effect January 1^{st} , 2017 and will be payable as follows:

- 1. The Board provides a weekly benefit for the one-week Employment Insurance waiting period at a weekly rate equal to 100% of the employee's normal weekly earnings.
- 2. The Board will then pay six (6) weeks of top-up from the member's El rate to 100% of the employee's normal weekly earnings.
- 3. After the six (6) weeks of top-up, the Board will pay the equivalent of one (1) week of the employee's normal weekly earnings split up over the following three (3) weeks in a manner that ensures that the member does not earn over 100% of their normal weekly earnings in any given week.
- 4. It is understood that the total amount paid by the Board shall not exceed what the member would have earned at two (2) weeks of 100% pay and six (6) weeks of top-up from their El rate to 100% of their regular pay.
- 5. Should there be further changes to the *Employment Insurance Act*, the Parties agree to meet to discuss changes that ensures an approach to administering the pregnancy and parental SEBs that is cost neutral such that the amount the Board pays out and the amount the employee receives for the SES would be the same as they would have paid out or received prior to the El changes in 2017.

LETTER OF AGREEMENT

BETWEEN:

THE SG DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD (hereinafter called the "Board") AND

The Ontario Secondary School Teachers' Federation (hereinafter called 'OSSTF')

RE: New Job class - IT Technologist

Whereas the parties have agreed there is a particular specialized job class in which the pay rate is below the local market value assessment of the job class, the parties have agreed to the following, in accordance with Article C7.0 of the collective agreement:

- 1. The IT technologist will be placed at Level 5 of the salary grid and paid in accordance with Article L7.0 and the Salary Schedule, Schedule A
- 2. As permitted by the Pay Equity Act, Sec 8(1), the IT technologist will receive an additional salary adjustment according to the chart below:

Year	Levels Eff.Aug 31, 2019	Market Value Adjustment	IT Technologist
0	\$21.23	\$9.25	\$30.48
1	\$22.85	\$8.42	\$31.27
2	\$24.48	\$7.57	\$32.05
3	\$26.11	\$6.73	\$32.84
4	\$27.74		

^{*}Salary Grid to reflect changes in the 2019-2022 Collective Agreement

- 3. The position of IT Technologist will be posted internally to current Computer Technicians in accordance with Article 14 Job Posting. Successful Computer Technicians will not be replaced.
- 4. Annually, upon request, the board will share market value information regarding the IT Technologist for the purpose of pay equity maintenance.